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Our Purpose
CHARITABLE PURPOSE:

We are The Odyssey Trust Company 
Limited, the charity that was established to 
hold, manage, safeguard, and develop the 
investment in the Odyssey project for the 
benefit of all the people of Northern Ireland.

CHARITABLE GOALS:

1) To advance public education by maintaining 
W5, Northern Ireland’s science and discovery 
centre; contributing to the advancement of 
scientific knowledge and education of the 
general public.

2) To provide facilities for leisure and recreation 
pursuits at the Odyssey site, including the SSE 
Arena, Belfast, in the interests of social welfare 
and improved conditions of life.

The Odyssey Trust Company Limited   
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Public Benefit 
Statement
Public Benefit is a legal requirement for 
every organisation set up with charitable 
aims, to be able to demonstrate. The 
Trustees confirm that they have had 
regard to the Charity Commission for 
Northern Ireland’s guidance on public 
benefit on reporting on the charity’s 
benefits and achievements. The Trustees 
are confident that the activities have 
helped to achieve the charity’s purposes 
and provide a benefit to the beneficiaries.

  Company Number: NI033106   Charity Commission NI number: 100113
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As I enter my final year as chair of The Odyssey 
Trust Company Limited (The Odyssey Trust also 
Odyssey Trust Group), this is an opportune time 
to reflect on the great work achieved by this 
organisation. It has been my privilege to lead a 
committed group of Directors and Trustees, who 
have worked tirelessly to ensure that the Odyssey 

Welcome from the 
Chairman and
Chief Executive

continues to serve its founding principle to hold, 
manage, safeguard and develop the facility for 
the people of Northern Ireland. In this of all 
years, I am exceptionally proud to work 
alongside this committed group of people to 
deliver on our shared vision. 

During the preparation of this Annual Report, it 
was my unfortunate duty to notify Board 
Members of the sad passing of our dear 
colleague, Glenn Jordan, who died suddenly in 
early June 2020.  His thoughtful input to the 
Board and his companionship will be missed by 
us all.  Our thoughts are with his family and 
loved ones.

2020 should have been a year of great 
celebration for the Odyssey Trust, as we 
prepared to celebrate 20 years in business. It 
will certainly be a year that we will never forget, 
though not for the reasons we had hoped. 

In March, operations right across the Odyssey 
complex were shut down due to the advent of 
the Covid-19 pandemic. I never could have 
envisioned a time when our business, and 
virtually all economic activity across Northern 
Ireland, would be forced to be brought to a halt 
overnight. 

It’s difficult not to let such a devastating blow to 
our business overshadow our retrospective on 
2019-2020, however, we must pause and 
reflect on what was otherwise a very good year, 
with much to celebrate. If we could exclude the 

month of March from our reporting, this would 
have been a watershed year for much more 
positive reasons. 

The SSE Arena, Belfast had another highly 
successful year, delivering a wide range of 
concerts, sporting events and theatrical 
productions bringing world-class events to the 
city. Despite enduring an abrupt end to the 2020 
season, the Belfast Giants had a very good 
year, delighting their growing legion of fans. The 
Annual Friendship Four Tournament was 
another highlight of the ice hockey year with this 
year’s competition honoured with the 
attendance of Mayor Walsh of Boston 
Massachusetts. 

At the start of the year, significant re-
development work got under way to completely 
reimagine W5 with a £4.5m renovation 
programme, supported by £3m funding from the 
Inspiring Science Fund. Meanwhile, Matagorda 
2 broke ground and began to realise a long-
held vision of transforming the Pavilion into a 
world-class leisure destination. We also began 
planning for the development of a state-of-the-
art new Learning Centre, aimed at inspiring the 
next generation of scientists, engineers and 
innovative minds.

In the 11 months leading up to March 2020, this 
business had an immense, far-reaching positive 
impact on the people of Northern Ireland, 
touching so many facets of our society. That 
impact is reflected in the pages that follow.
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The Executive Team under the leadership of 
chief executive, Robert Fitzpatrick, remain 
committed to safeguarding and protecting the 
Odyssey complex for the people of Northern 
Ireland, delivering on its founding principles in a 
post Covid world.

I would also like to pay tribute to the Senior 
Management Team for their speedy and effective 
response to the Covid-19 emergency to protect 
the Trust against the unprecedented financial 
challenges which we now face and, most 
importantly, to look after the excellent staff that 
we are fortunate to have and upon whom the 
organisation depends. 

 
Eric Porter, Chairman

In setting out our plan for 2019-2020, we never 
could have envisioned how this year would end. 
It will forever be a year of two halves: pre and 
post pandemic. 

In the 11 months prior to March 2020, we marked 
many significant milestones befitting our 20th 
year in business. Long-awaited transformative 
work began on the redevelopment of the 

Odyssey Pavilion, which brought us one step 
closer to delivering a world-class family leisure 
facility to complement the offering of the SSE 
Arena, Belfast and W5. 

The £4.5m reimagining of W5 also got under way 
and we began planning the development of a 
state-of-the-art 20,000sq ft Learning Centre in 
partnership with a range of core industry 
partners, to drive significant advancements in 
STEM learning in Northern Ireland. 

Despite the abrupt end to the 2019-20 season, 
the Belfast Giants had a very good year, finishing 
third in the League and holding on to their 
reigning Elite League champions title. Off the ice, 
the Giants also made a huge impact, driving our 
social inclusion agenda with a range of outreach 
initiatives that delivered real and meaningful 
impact in communities right across Northern 
Ireland. 

The year ended abruptly in March 2020, in the 
most unexpected cliff edge fashion. The onset of 
Covid-19 decimated most of our business 
interests to the point that we now must re-
evaluate and reimagine the reopening of our 
business.

There can be no doubt of the importance and 
impact of this business to society at large. 
However, very real challenges lie ahead. We 

must defeat Covid-19 to permit the safe return of 
employees, customers and performers to the 
Odyssey. It is also imperative that our values in 
relation to social affairs and education are at the 
forefront of what we do. 

I wish to commend the Executive team and those 
employees that have come on this journey with 
us under the aegis of ‘one’. I am proud to lead 
such a dedicated and committed group of 
people, whose efforts remain focused on 
delivering the founding vision for the Odyssey. 
There is no doubting the fact that we are in very 
different, challenging times and our resilience is 
going to continue to be tested.

We have, however, an exciting development 
potential whereby a new W5, a Learning Centre, 
a reimagined Arena and a brand-new Pavilion 
can deliver a new experience for the people of 
Northern Ireland and reinforce our founding 
principles. That is an opportunity we should all 
pursue.

Robert Fitzpatrick, Chief Executive
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Education Leisure & Recreation
W5
We manage and develop W5, a world-
class, award-winning science and 
discovery centre, advancing scientific 
knowledge and education through 
200+ STEM exhibits, interactive 
public shows and events, Northern 
Ireland curriculum-linked programmes, 
workshops and outreach activities, 
supporting better life chances for the 
people of Northern Ireland.

SSE ARENA, BELFAST
We provide and continue to develop 
a world-class indoor arena facility that 
hosts a range of leisure and recreation 
events and activities, improving 
wellbeing and conditions of life for the 
people of Northern Ireland.

Our Impact
PUBLIC BENEFITS: 

1) We contribute to the advancement of 
scientific knowledge and education of the 
public and improve conditions of life.

2) We provide facilities for leisure and 
recreation to improve wellbeing and 
conditions of life.
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One Vision 
Recent years have seen high levels of 
investment in both resource and projects across 
the Odyssey. Teams have been realigned to 
meet business requirements and the cross-
group functionality has provided savings and 
improved the collegiate approach to business 
objectives in all areas. 

We continue to focus  on our people - ensuring 
we have the right people, in the right place, at 
the right time, doing the right thing - harnessing 
a singular approach to our successes. Our 
agile business model must be both stable 
and dynamic and our structure must continue 
to build on the solid foundations put in place 
across our flat structure.

Strategic 
Direction

  Company Number: NI033106   Charity Commission NI number: 100113
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EDUCATION 

Our team advances public education for 
the people in Northern Ireland by operating 
and maintaining W5 and delivering public 
education programmes and outreach, 
delivering a programme of public events, 
exhibitions and engagement activities during 
the year.

Our team manages the Science, Technology, 
Engineering and Maths (STEM) Ambassador 
Hub, supporting STEM Ambassadors to 
deliver STEM education to people of all ages 
throughout Northern Ireland, in both formal 
and informal settings.

LEISURE AND RECREATION 

Improving conditions of life underpins our 
facilities for leisure and recreation at the 
Odyssey.

We use the SSE Arena, W5 and the Odyssey 
site to support wellbeing and better life 
chances for the people of Northern Ireland, 
improving conditions of life.

What we Do
In 2019-2020, the team at the Odyssey 
Trust continued to manage, safeguard and 
invest in the Odyssey for the benefit of the 
people of Northern Ireland.

W5 science and discovery centre is 
generally open to the public 362 days a 
year. The SSE Arena, Belfast held 114 
event days (excludes rehearsal days) in the 
10,800-seat multi-purpose indoor arena, 
appealing to a wide range of audiences.

We work with other partners to advance 
public education and support better life 
chances, working with parents, schools, 
universities and businesses to support 
opportunities in Science, Technology, 
Engineering and Maths (STEM).
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Our staff and volunteers 
work to ensure that our 
customers right across 
the Odyssey have the 
Best Experience Every 

Time.

PEOPLE

Our staff and volunteers work to ensure that 
users of the services and venues have the 
‘Best Experience Every Time’ (BEET).

In 2019-2020 we employed 163 staff (full-
time and part-time) to manage operate and 
maintain the businesses.

Volunteers are critical to our business, both 
as STEM Ambassadors and in enhancing the 
visitor experience.

BUILDING FOR THE FUTURE 

As a charity independent of government, we 
manage and operate facilities at the Odyssey 
site, relying on our visitors and beneficiaries to 
pay for the cost of education, leisure and 
recreation and their ongoing development.

We set high standards to maintain quality and 
support the ongoing financial stability of the 
Odyssey.

  Company Number: NI033106   Charity Commission NI number: 100113
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226,103

Demonstrating
Impact 2019/20

science shows in W5
- 43,500+ audience962

Advancing
Public
Education

31,718

facilitated STEM activities 
for 40,545 young people

721

The Odyssey Trust Company Limited   

visitors to W5 - advancing education

pupils supported by W5, through 
schools’ engagement
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AMAZE

In June 2019, W5 launched AMAZE, a 
purpose-built £1m digital space, designed 
to create exciting and immersive visitor 
experiences. 

Combining immersive soundscapes, large 
multi-screen projections, physical props 
and structures, 360 degree projection and 
augmented reality portals, AMAZE has the 
potential to deliver exciting, captivating and 
highly entertaining exhibitions and events for 
visitors of all ages to enjoy.

The project was supported by the Inspiring 
Science Fund, a scheme co-funded by 
the Department of Business, Energy and 
Industrial Strategy (BEIS), UK Research and 
Innovation (UKRI) and the Wellcome Trust. 
Additional support was provided by Tourism 
NI through its Immersive Technology Fund 
and the Odyssey Trust.

Building on the foundations of the launch 
event, ‘Land of Legends’, AMAZE hosted 
highly popular Halloween and Christmas 
exhibitions, including the magical ‘Creatures 
of the Night) and ‘Santa Street’ productions.

W5 held 247 public outreach 
events and activities at 101 
locations across Ireland - 
17,571 participants

W5 hosted over 250 public 
events at W5 - engaging over 31,888 
public visitors

27,856 supported visits to 
W5 - 16,262 early years children, 9,518 
general admission, 2,076 essential aid
visitors

1,394 volunteer active
STEM Ambassadors

19,889
volunteer STEM hours by STEM Ambassadors
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Seismic Citizenship

This unique initiative, funded by the Department 
of Education Northern Ireland and the British 
Council Northern Ireland, aims to create 
international links, raise awareness of global 
citizenship and teach young people about 
alternative cultures.

The programme provided opportunities for 
seven Key Stage 2 classes from schools 
located in areas of multiple deprivation. Each 
participating class was paired with a
Spanish-speaking British Council language 
assistant from Mexico, Chile, Venezuela or 
Colombia to learn about these countries, their 
culture and language.

The programme took place from November to 
February, and included on-site and outreach 
activities, as well as supporting resources for 
participating teachers. During an outreach visit 
to each school, pupils investigated the dangers 
of earthquakes in these countries and were 
tasked with building an earthquake resistant 
skyscraper. 

On Tuesday 11 February 2020, W5 welcomed 
160 pupils from six of the participating primary 
schools to the final of the 2019/2020 Seismic 
Citizenship programme. Their skyscrapers 
were tested and scored by judges during the 
celebration event in W5 with a P7 class from 
Fane Street Primary School named the overall 
winners for 2019/2020.  

Dragon from the Lagan 

Following the success of ‘The Dragon from the 
Lagan’ initiative in 2018, W5 and Libraries NI 
teamed up to extend the reach and scope of the 
project, with the launch of phase two in 2019.

The project is aimed at bringing an interactive 
learning experience to more young children 
and their families. The collaboration is part of 
a programme designed by W5 and Sure Start 
to encourage a wider demographic of young 
children to engage in Science, Technology, 
Engineering and Maths (STEM) subjects.  

Programming is now embedded within W5’s 
activities, and was extended to new Sure 
Start groups across the Greater Belfast area, 
to encourage young children, along with their 
parents and carers, to engage with real life 
applications of STEM.

During a celebratory event, over 100 local 
school children visited Lisnaskea and 
Enniskillen libraries to participate in science-
focused workshops, facilitated by Libraries 
NI staff and W5’s Science Communicator in 
Residence, Emer Maguire.   
 
“Libraries NI is delighted to work with W5 to 
bring this mythical story to the network of 
public libraries across Northern Ireland.  It 
is great to work with W5 to fire the spirit of 
discovery amongst the children. The children 
taking part in the workshops in Lisnaskea 
and Enniskillen libraries had a lot of fun 
learning about the dragon on his adventure 
to W5,” Mandy Bryson, assistant director, 
Libraries NI.
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Sharing Summer Science
 
As part of our rural engagement programme, 
W5 and the Share Discovery Village teamed up 
to bring ‘Sharing Summer Science’ to 
Lisnaskea, Co. Fermanagh in August 2019. 
Over two days, we delivered a range of exciting 
activities to excite curious minds, explore new 
ideas and offer a fun-filled day out for all the 
family, including LEGO® Big Build challenges, 
science magic shows, story time with The 
Dragon from the Lagan and a Birds of Your 
Garden workshop with Lough Erne Landscape 
Partnership. 

In addition to the programme of indoor and 
outdoor science activities, families had the 
opportunity to participate in LEGO® robotics 
workshops, bringing computing to life through 
hands-on tasks and using technology to tackle 
real-world projects.

Supported by Lisnaskea’s Men’s Shed, Lough 
Erne Landscape Partnership and Fermanagh 
and Omagh District Council, families made 
cakes for garden birds, learnt how to recycle 
waste and built outdoor shelters for the 
changeable Fermanagh weather. 

Sharing Summer Science was an exciting 
opportunity for W5 to work with the Share 
Discovery Village to develop meaningful and 
inclusive engagement with new audiences in 
rural areas. The initiative delivers on one of 

ALMAC GROUP’S STEM PATHWAY 
PROGRAMME AT W5

Throughout the school year, W5 worked 
with Almac to host a series of unique, 
exciting and interactive workshops at W5 for 
post-primary schools, providing information 
about STEM careers in the pharmaceutical 
sector, and offering guidance on education 
pathways from GCSE and beyond.

These events, tailored for each of the Key 
Stages from Year 8-14, provide students 
and teachers with the opportunity to speak 
with Almac staff, participate in practical 
demonstrations and get involved in hands-
on activities. 

W5’s key aims, through the Inspiring Science 
initiative, to expand, extend and diversify its 
audience base, with an increased focus on 
underrepresented and underserved audiences, 
including rural communities.
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STEM - Women in Engineering Day

To celebrate International Women into 
Engineering Day, W5 hosted an event on 
Tuesday 25 June 2019 to showcase various 
local inspirational women that have chosen a 
career in engineering. 

Keynote speakers from some of Northern 
Ireland's leading STEM companies/
organisations addressed the audience, 
comprised primarily of Year 10 female pupils. 
Practical hands-on workshops with STEM 
Ambassadors provided pupils with the 
opportunity to meet with a broad range of 
female industry representatives.

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
W5 Quiet Room

W5 partnered with NOW Group to launch a 
new Quiet Room for visitors who need to take a 
break from the main exhibition spaces, crowds 
and excitement of W5. The new space, which 
launched in August 2019, is aimed at improv-
ing accessibility for visitors to W5, targeted at 
people with additional access requirements 
including people with autism.  

Located on Level 2 in W5, the look and feel of 
the new Quiet Room was designed by several 
NOW Group participants who themselves are 
potential users. The Quiet Room has cocooning 
high back sofas ideal for creating private space 
and reducing noise levels; lighting and sounds 
that can be adjusted to suit the user’s needs; 
and a colour palette and decor that the partici-
pants found relaxing.  

The Quiet Room follows on from work under-

taken by a site-wide Accessibility Forum, estab-
lished within the Odyssey in 2018. The forum 
explored how we can increase accessibility and 
make our facilities more welcoming, enhancing 
the visitor experience and supporting our Best 
Experience Every Time promise. 

Further consultation resulted in a survey of W5 
being undertaken in 2018 by Specialisterne NI, 
targeted at visitors with autism, which suggest-
ed a number of adjustments which could be 
undertaken to widen public engagement within 
the building. The introduction of a Quiet Room 
is one of a number of adjustments undertaken 
to widen public engagement at W5. 

“This new space complements a transforma-
tional £4.5m investment programme at W5 to 
create eight new themed exhibition areas and 
experiences and supports our aspiration to 
develop meaningful and inclusive engagement 
with underserved and underrepresented audi-
ences. £3m funding was awarded through the 
Inspiring Science Fund and a further £1.5m 
invested by the Odyssey Trust,” Catherine 
O’Mullan, Chair of W5.

“Our participants were thrilled to work with W5 
on the design of their new Quiet Room. People 
with learning difficulties or autism really are 
experts at helping organisations understand 
how to make their services or spaces more 
user-friendly.  W5 led the way by initially be-
coming JAM Card friendly and this next step 
is a welcome further commitment to improving 
accessibility,” Maeve Monaghan, CEO, NOW 
Group.
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Artemis AC45 Docks in W5 

W5 has established a new collaborative partner-
ship with Artemis Technologies, the world’s lead-
ing high-performance maritime design and applied 
technologies company, which is also based in Bel-
fast.  As part of this partnership, in January 2020, 
W5 took delivery of an exciting new exhibit - a full 
size AC45 catamaran hub, which is now suspend-
ed from the ceiling on Level 2.

One of the fastest yachts on the planet, the 45-
foot foiling catamaran raced in the 35th America’s 
Cup World Series. It will form a key component 
of the redeveloped W5 as part of ‘Move it’, one of 
eight exciting new zones currently under develop-
ment as part of the Inspiring Science project.

This zone aims to reflect past, present and fu-
ture technologies in transportation with a unique 

local slant. Northern Ireland has a rich maritime 
history, and with W5’s waterfront positioning, this 
new zone will reflect the renaissance of maritime 
engineering within a very local context.  

Artemis Technologies is the lead partner in a 
Belfast consortium that is leading the return of 
shipbuilding to the city. The collaboration show-
cases Belfast’s existing research excellence and 
high-quality innovation capability encompassing 
academia, industry, and local government. 

“Through an immersive and fun experience, our 
part in the exhibition will illustrate the transition of 
hydrofoiling technology from the America's Cup to 
zero-emissions transport in a manner that I know 
will inspire the next generation of innovators and 
highlight career and employment opportunities in 
the maritime and technology industry,” Iain Percy, 
CEO, Artemis Technologies.

Microsoft Science and
Discovery Month

To celebrate the return of the Friendship 
Four tournament, the Odyssey Trust 
delivered the highly successful ‘Friendship 
Four – Microsoft Science and Discovery 
Month’ initiative in November 2019. The 
initiative, delivered in partnership with 
Microsoft and a range of industry and 
academic partners, built on the firm 
foundations of STEM education 
programmes delivered alongside the 
tournament over the last five years.

The month-long series of events was rolled 
out for schools and the public during 
November 2019, raising awareness of the 
role of STEM and sport in our society and 
highlighting our commitment to STEM 
education, lifelong and life-wide learning 
and community engagement. 

Amongst the varied events delivered within 
the eclectic programme was a Conversation 
with a NASA Scientist event featuring Dr 
Sarah Noble and a ‘Smart Materials: 
Building the Future’ show with award-
winning materials scientist, engineer and 
communicator, Dr Anna Ploszajski. 
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concerts
52 family

shows 18

leisure and recreation 
events days (excludes 
rehearsal days)

114

sports events
days44

Facilities for 
Leisure and 
Recreation

Demonstrating
Impact 2019/20

The Odyssey Trust Company Limited   

visitors to SSE Arena, Belfast -  
leisure and recreation

562,136  
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FAMILY LEISURE AND 
RECREATION

Arenacross STEM showcase 
returns

Europe’s leading action sports show, 
Arenacross, kicked off its 2020 tour with two 
fast-paced, adrenaline-charged shows at the 
SSE Arena, Belfast in January. Building on 
the success of its first year, the interactive 
‘Arenacross For Schools’ STEM showcase 
returned, engaging with hundreds of school 
children with support from local sporting 
legend, Jonathan Rea, five-time World 
Superbike champion.

The unique programme is a joint venture 
between Arenacross, W5, and STEM 
Ambassadors, which helps to educate young 
people and provide insights into alternative 
career opportunities. Over 200 primary 
school students enjoyed exclusive behind the 
scenes tours and talks from riders including 
Jonathan Rea, Motocross Champion Graeme 
Irwin, Etec Apico CCM Racing’s Stuart 
Edmonds and youth heroes, Charley Irwin 
and Lewis Spratt. 

During the day, the Fix Auto UK Freestyle 
Motocross Team gave a private show 
featuring flips, whips and a taster of the tricks 
they would perform over the weekend, as 
thousands of tons of dirt were delivered into 
The SSE Arena, Belfast to turn the home of 
Belfast Giants into a dirt playground. 

As part of the experience, the pro riders 
provided expert advice on what it takes to 
make it in the sporting world.  To top it off, the 
pupils were invited to sit ringside and enjoy 
the opening round of the 2020 Arenacross 
Tour at The SSE Arena, Belfast. 

“Hands-on STEM activities, combined 
with the action-packed, high adrenaline 
live sports action of Arenacross led to a 
highly memorable field trip for pupils from 
Ballymacash Primary School, St Aloysius 
Primary School, Omagh County Primary 
School and St. Cillian's National School in 
Dublin. Having World Superbike Champion 
and local sporting legend, Jonathan Rea on 
hand to spend time with the pupils brought 
the programme to the next level,” Julia 
Carson, STEM Ambassador Hub Manager. 

public tickets provided to Belfast Giants

12,451 public tickets provided        
 to 2019 Friendship Four and Friendship 
Series games

Public tickets provided to 200+ 
schools and community groups 

164,793
Total ice hockey spectators (includes 
Friendship Four and Continental Cup semis 
and final for both men and women)

Ice hockey
games

39
Average attendance
ice hockey

4,423

16,502   
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The SSE Arena Events April 2019 - March 2020
Unibet Premier League Darts
The Greatest Show for Families
Subculture
Biggest 80s 90s Disco
Disney on Ice
WWE
The King is Back
Olly Murs
Westlife
The Vamps
Michael Bublé
Bill Bailey
Sing!

The International Belfast Tattoo
Bianca Del Rio
Kalhid
Little Mix
Farmer’s Bash
Lush Classical
Andrea Bocelli
Clubland Live
A-ha
Gerry Cinnamon
Cher
Marvel Universe Live
Mrs. Brown D’Musical

NCAA – Friendship Four tournament
Winter Skate
Rod Stewart
Jack Whitehall
Friendship Series
Colin Geddis
Arenacross
Strictly Come Dancing
Arrival from Sweden
Riverdance
Peace Proms
The Script 
Paddy Raff 

Westlife Little Mix Riverdance Arenacross
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FAMILY SHOW

Belfast Peace Proms –  
SSE Arena, sharing a love for music 
and passion for peace 

In March, the Peace Proms returned to the 
SSE Arena Belfast, for a high-octane evening 
of entertainment, celebrating the energy, 
talent and collaboration of local primary school 
children. 

Five thousand children from Northern Ireland 
and the border region, who make up the 
Children’s Peace Choir, performed alongside 
the 100-member internationally acclaimed 
Cross Border Orchestra of Ireland, in an 
uplifting and inspirational celebration of youth, 
music, and talent. The choir provided a spine-
tingling performance, with powerful peace 
anthems and family favourites including hit 
Disney songs and uplifting pop medleys.

A total of 14,715 attended the two Proms 
concerts (9,435 audience and 5,280 
performers including school choirs, orchestra 
musicians, dancers and soloists). The choirs 
came from 134 schools, 121 from Northern 
Ireland and 13 from the Republic of Ireland, 
with equal Catholic / Protestant representation. 
Peace Proms engages children and young 
people in music and enriches their lives 
through exceptional musical experiences and 
performances. 

“I wanted to say thank you, to you all, for the 
concert in The SSE Arena yesterday. The 
children had an incredible experience and 
they are still buzzing today. It's a concert they 
will never forget. I know a huge amount of 
planning goes into each concert but it is such 
a worthwhile and educational opportunity for 
all the schools involved and Greg is amazing! 
We just loved it. We've taken part before and 
we will be taking part again. Thank you, thank 
you!” Deirdre, St Mary's Primary, Newcastle, 
Co. Down.

“My son and I attended the Peace Proms in 
Belfast, where my daughter was singing with 
the choir. I have been to many concerts, big 
ones in big stadiums, and small ones etc. The 
Peace Proms concert just blew me away for 
many reasons. First of all, the range of music 
was unreal. The quality of talent united on the 
stage was amazing. And then, the kids... all 
happy and having fun together. No religion, 
all dressed the same, all being one. I actually 
cried when they started clapping along to Make 
Your Own Kind of Music, and I’m not even an 
emotional person. I know for a fact that for 
most of those kids it was their first opportunity 
to watch a real orchestra. And as a mummy 
who didn’t want to spend the price of a ticket.... 
I regret this after all. I didn’t expect it to be that 
good and it was so good,” a proud parent of a 
member of the Peace Proms choir.

“Having the opportunity to perform in a world-
class venue like the SSE Arena, Belfast is an 
incredible opportunity for the school children 
involved in the Peace Proms. 

“As an event that seeks to foster cross-
community relations, having a venue that 
places inclusivity at the heart of its operations 
is absolutely vital. The SSE Arena, Belfast 
has a commitment to inclusivity which gave 
us the confidence that we could provide equal 
representation to both communities.

"The exceptional team at the Arena, went 
above and beyond to ensure everyone had the 
best experience. We greatly appreciate their 
hard work and commitment to ensuring the 
success of another hugely successful Peace 
Proms and we look forward to working with 
the team again in the future,” Sharon Treacy- 
Dunne, CEO Cross Border Orchestra of 
Ireland. 

credit: Anamaria Meiu, AMStar Photography
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SPORT

Belfast Giants - In the Land of 
Giants, Everyone is Equal 

The SSE Arena, Belfast is home to Stena 
Line Belfast Giants, Ireland’s number one 
ice hockey team. Providing facilities for 
leisure and recreation, the Odyssey Trust has 
supported the development of ice hockey, 
which is now a mainstream sport of choice for 
many people in Northern Ireland.  
 
Ice hockey was enjoyed by 164,793 fans 
during the year, with an average audience of 
4,423 per game. 
 
2019-2020 was a season of mixed fortunes 
for the Belfast Giants, with the season 
unexpectedly being called off by the EIHL due 
to the Covid-19 pandemic in March 2020.  
 
Up until that point, however, the Giants were 
on course to complete another impressive 
year. Following the EIHL League and 
Challenge Cup victories of the previous 
season, several players moved away with 
lucrative new contracts, leading to 17 new 
signings and a brand-new roster for 2019-20.  
 
The Giants’ last win over Fife Flyers left the 
club in a position to defend their Elite League 
title, only four points behind the leaders, with 
six games still to play, five of which would be 
at home.

2019 also marked the Giants’ first ever 
appearance in the Champions Hockey 
League (CHL). A momentous occasion for the 
club and city, it was the first time Champions 
League hockey came to Northern Ireland. In 
their CHL debut game, the Giants defeated 
top Czech Republic team, Liberec in a 
memorable 5-4 victory. 
 
Off the ice, the Giants also celebrated a clean 
sweep of trophies from the CHL campaign, 
including two fan awards and the 2019/20 
Champions Hockey League Marketing Award, 
which honoured the most creative and active 
club in promoting the Champions Hockey 
League. 
 
“While we were disappointed to have the 
Belfast Giants season cancelled, we respect 
and support the decision of the Elite League 
as the health of our fans, players, staff and 
sponsors is vital,” Eric Porter, Chairman of 
the Odyssey Trust. 
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“In the land of the Giants everyone is equal, 
regardless of class, creed or gender and 
that’s what make us special to so many of our 
fans, sponsors and supporters. Unfortunately, 
Covid-19 doesn’t discriminate either and we 
have been hit extremely hard by this virus. 
We are committed to safeguarding the future 
of the Belfast Giants and will prepare to return 
for the 2021-22 season. We will do everything 
we can to mitigate the threat posed by 
Covid-19; this sport contributes so much, not 
just in significant economic impact but also 
as part of the cultural and social fabric of our 
city,” Robert Fitzpatrick, CEO, the Odyssey 
Trust. 

22



The Odyssey Trust Company Limited     Company Number: NI033106   Charity Commission NI number: 100113

SPORT

Friendship Four Turns Five 

The Friendship Four tournament returned 
for the fifth consecutive year in November 
2019, providing a unique opportunity for 
local hockey fans to watch National Colle-
giate Athletic Association (NCAA) college 
action outside the United States. 

The tournament, which has firmly estab-
lished its roots in the SSE Arena, Belfast 
consisted of a four-game competition with 
talented top-level student athletes from 
Princeton University, Colgate University, 
Northeastern University and The University 
of New Hampshire, competing for the pres-
tigious Belpot trophy.

Some 18,450 spectators attended the four 
games, including 12,451 complimentary 
tickets that were issued to schools, youth 
and community groups across Northern 
Ireland.

Running alongside the on-ice action, the 
Odyssey Trust developed the ‘Friendship 
Four – Microsoft Science & Discovery 
Month’. A packed programme of events for 
schools took place in W5 during Novem-
ber, raising awareness of the role of STEM 
and sport in our society, and delivering 
on our commitment to developing STEM 
education, lifelong learning and community 
engagement.

The Friendship Four tournament began in 
2015 in support of the Boston and Belfast 
Sister Cities Agreement, which was de-
signed to foster stronger economic devel-
opment, trade and investment, tourism, 
cultural exchange and educational linkages 
between the two cities.  

“It truly is remarkable to conduct the fifth 
annual Friendship Four and second an-
nual Friendship Series in Belfast. Each of 
the previous events have provided lifetime 
memories for coaches, student-athlete, 
staff and visitors,” Steve Hagwell from the 
ECAC Hockey Commission. 

“We are proud of the role the Friendship 
Four tournament plays in forging friend-
ships, through sport, leisure and recrea-
tion, whilst supporting the development of 
educational advancement and community 
initiatives that benefit the people of North-
ern Ireland,” Steve Thornton, Head of 
Hockey, Belfast Giants.
 
Regrettably, due to the Covid-19 pandem-
ic, the 2020 Friendship Four tournament, 
which was due to take place in November 
2020 had to be cancelled. The Odyssey 
Trust remains committed to bringing this 
transformational event back to Belfast, 
to continue to build on the stellar work 
the tournament has delivered in terms of 
education, social welfare and community 
integration in Northern Ireland.
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SPORT AND SOCIAL INCLUSION

Ice Academy glides into third year

A class of 17 young people from across Northern 
Ireland that have been in care or suffered from mental 
health challenges, took part in the third annual Ice 
Academy initiative with the Stena Line Belfast Giants. 

The Ice Academy, which began in November 2019 
and ran until February 2020, provides young people 
with a unique opportunity through leisure and recrea-
tion to learn and work together to overcome challeng-
es, supporting wellbeing and better life chances.

The Academy programme includes ice sessions with 
the Belfast Giants, coupled with professional ‘off the 
ice’ training, including sessions in communications; 
volunteering; diversity; teamwork; and skills training. 
The Ice Academy was funded by the Department for 

Communities (DfC) and the Odyssey Trust as part of 
the Executive’s Together: Building a United Commu-
nity Strategy.  Project partner, Include Youth, provides 
mentoring support to help build self-esteem, confi-
dence and resilience as the young people transition 
into adulthood.

“The Odyssey Ice Academy was amazing and we 
learnt so many new skills including how to play ice 
hockey with the Belfast Giants at The SSE Arena, 
Belfast, which is much harder than it looks! The off-ice 
sessions were fun and I learned a lot through the 
whole programme. I am so proud to be a Commu-
nity Giant and part of the class of 2019/20,” Archie 
Wilson, Community Giant, Ice Academy Class of 
19-20.

“As we come to the close of the third Odyssey Ice 
Academy, I can say the programme only gets better 
and better with each year. The young people involved 

have been fantastic and from all accounts have en-
joyed every minute of it. I’d like to thank those young 
people and all involved in running the Odyssey Ice 
Academy including the Odyssey Trust, the Stena Line 
Belfast Giants, Department for Communities and the 
staff at Include Youth,” Paddy Mooney, Director of 
Include Youth.

“I had the privilege of meeting and speaking to these 
young people at their celebration match last week in 
The SSE Arena. It was clear to me that they have very 
much enjoyed the experience and have embraced 
the opportunity the Ice Academy has provided them to 
further develop their volunteering, communication and 
team work skills with the support and inspiration of our 
very own Belfast Giants. I am proud that my Depart-
ment continues to support this worthwhile initiative and 
I congratulate all the participants on their graduation,” 
Communities Minister, Deirdre Hargey. 
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Belfast Giants Community Action

The Belfast Giants continues to be a valued 
and valuable asset to the Belfast brand, now 
firmly established as part of the fabric of the 
city’s leisure and recreation offering. As role 
models for many young people across 
Northern Ireland, the Giants provide support 
and inspiration for the local community. The 
impact of this should not be underestimated. 

Here are a few examples demonstrating our 
impact in the community:

“Last night my husband and three sons 
thoroughly enjoyed our first experience of 
The Giants. My middle son has additional 
needs and while we are largely a rugby/
football family, we have never been able to 
attend a sporting event as a family until now. 
While my husband and other two sons 
attend Ulster rugby matches regularly, it is 
not an experience we can share as a family 
due to Joel’s additional needs, and indeed 
his lack of engagement with the sport itself. 
However, the uniqueness of the ice hockey 
experience provided a real hold for our son, 
while also fully meeting those competitive 
juices of my other boys.

“The whole experience from staffing, fans, 
entertainment, atmosphere and indeed the 
hockey provided a fully enjoyable and 
inclusive experience for us all as a family. 
We will definitely be attending more 
regularly in the future, despite living a 

distance from Belfast and we might even 
brush up on our understanding of the game. 
So, thank you for a great night out and a 
long-lasting family memory. We will be 
hearing Let’s Go Giants for some time now 
in our house,” Jill Graham. 

“I attended the ice hockey match on 
Saturday night with some friends to show 
support for the Elite League’s Pride 
Weekend initiative. I just wanted to pass on 
my thanks and appreciation to all who 
helped bring this to Belfast.

“Going to an ice hockey match and hearing 
positive affirming statements from the 
players along with seeing rainbow flags in 
the crowd and rainbows used in the 
graphics on the big screens was incredibly 
positive and uplifting. A young family was 
sat in front of me, their children were asking 
about the rainbow flags, I overheard the 
parents explain what LGBT meant in a 
wonderful and compassionate way. Knowing 
that conversations like this were sparked by 
the event gives me great hope of increased 
tolerance and acceptance of LGBT+ people 
here in Northern Ireland. Thank you for 
contributing to that.

“Most of the friends I went with had never 
been to an ice hockey match before and 
they all want to come back. I think you’ve 
won a lot of new Giants fans!” Paul 
Bloomer, Co-Chairperson, PSNI LGBT+ 
Network 

Friendship Series

The second annual women’s NCAA Friendship 
Series took place at The SSE Arena, Belfast on 
Saturday 4 and Sunday 5 January 2020. 

Once again showcasing Belfast and Northern 
Ireland to an international audience, competing 
teams, Merrimack College and Quinnipiac 
University showcased opportunities for women 
and girls to get involved in grassroots sports.

The event is unique to NCAA athletics, as the 
only women’s ice hockey games to be held 
outside of the United States.

“We’re delighted to see a return of the Women’s 
Friendship Series to Belfast. This prestigious 
tournament enhances our reputation for hosting 
major events and strengthens business, tourism, 
academic and cultural links with our Sister City, 
Boston and promotes Belfast as a place to 
study, visit and invest in,” Former Lord Mayor 
of Belfast, Councillor Daniel Baker.

25



The Odyssey Trust Company Limited     Company Number: NI033106   Charity Commission NI number: 100113

Winter Skate

Winter skating returned to the SSE Arena, Belfast 
over the festive period, offering 19 public ice-skating 
sessions between 21st December to 3rd January. 
Skating Aids (Bobby Seals) were made available for 
children to help them get off to a flying start on the 
ice. Wheelchair skating was also accommodated 
to ensure Winter Skate offered an inclusive day of 
family fun for all abilities. 

Riverdance

With their dazzling costumes and fast footwork, the 
Riverdance cast wowed crowds for an epic seven 
shows at the SSE Arena, Belfast in February 2020. 
The series of shows marked the 25th anniversary 
of the Grammy Award-winning production. Since it 
began Riverdance has been performed over 12,160 
times and seen live by over 27.5 million people in 
546 venues worldwide.

Disney on Ice

The Wonderful World of Disney On Ice was brought 
to life at The SSE Arena, Belfast in May 2019. 
Audiences relived the magic and memories of their 
favourite Disney animated films at the show, which 
featured more than 50 Disney characters. The 
production included the box office smash hits Disney 
Pixar’s Finding Dory and Disney’s Frozen.  

FAMILY SHOWS

The Greatest Show for Families

A talented troop of singers, dancers and aerial 
acrobats brought families on an immersive journey 
through songs from the box office smash, The 
Greatest Showman, as well as a host of other 
musical favourites including Moulin Rouge, 
Hairspray, A Star is Born, and Disney classics. 
The live concert spectacular provided a truly 
unforgettable experience for families that travelled 
from far and wide to the SSE Arena, Belfast in 
April 2019.

Marvel Universe Live

Marvel Universe Live made a sensational return 
to Belfast in November 2019, with a high energy 
show packed full of super hero action, thrills and 
drama. The new action-packed live stunt show 
featured Spider-Man, The Avengers and the 
Guardians of the Galaxy joining forces with Doctor 
Strange and never before seen characters in one 
epic battle of good versus evil.
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Building for 
the Future 

Investment 2019/20
The Odyssey Trust, the charity that was established 
to hold, manage, safeguard and develop the 
investment in the Odyssey project for the benefit of 
all the people of Northern Ireland, continues to build 
for the future.

The Odyssey Trust Company Limited   
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Reimagining W5

W5 is on track to complete a £4.5m transformation 
by summer 2021. 

Eight new immersive themed exhibition areas and 
experiences will engage visitors with STEM in a fun 
and interactive way. We have developed a new 
approach to visitor engagement, both within W5 and 
the community, creating dynamic content with new 
science shows, family events and activities, 
presenting information in new and unusual ways.

A new operating model will support the new W5 
Experience as it seeks to cement both its identity and 
business opportunity alongside a redeveloped 
Pavilion.  

This new operating model will help W5 respond to 
the impact of Covid-19 and create a sustainable 
base that will enhance resilience and help identify 
areas for future investment.

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Pavilion Redevelopment

Matagorda 2, working alongside Odyssey Trust 
Company, took an important step towards 
transforming the Odyssey Pavilion into the number 
one leisure destination for families in Northern 
Ireland. The £17m redevelopment got under way in 
January 2020 and continued, without much 
disruption, during the pandemic. It is anticipated that 
the work will be completed in summer 2021. Our key 
focus and attention is now on building strong 
relationships with Matagorda2 and their teams. 

Working towards a reopening strategy with all four 
component parts of the business operational, we can 
realise the vision of creating a truly world-class 
leisure and entertainment destination.

AMAZE 

W5 launched ‘AMAZE’ , a new £1m immersive digital 
attraction, in June 2019. 

A UK and Ireland first, AMAZE combines all the 
elements of immersive soundscapes, multi-screen 
projections, physical props and structures, 360 
degree projection and augmented reality portals, 
enabling visitors to delve into new worlds and 
experience technological innovations first hand.

The first exhibition ‘Land of Legends’ and 
subsequent Halloween and Christmas exhibitions 
have formed part of the development of this exciting 
new asset, which has endless potential for future 
development. 

“AMAZE is an important part of the development and 
transformation of W5. This immersive technology will 
allow us the opportunity to create new exhibitions 
that will appeal to people of all ages,” Catherine 
O’Mullan, chair, W5.
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Learning Centre 

The Odyssey Trust, along with W5, is working in 
partnership with a number of key industry partners 
including Almac, Microsoft and Kainos to develop 
Northern Ireland’s first dedicated learning hub aimed 
at inspiring young adults into future career pathways 
in STEM. 

The purpose-built state-of-the-art 20,000 sq. ft space 
located adjacent to W5 offers a unique opportunity 
to ensure first mover advantage, as we develop 
programmes that will provide vocational skills 
and training to young people that will foster future 
careers in science, engineering, digital and tech 
industries.

Planning for the fully integrated educational and 
STEM centre began in early 2020, with a target 
opening date of autumn 2021. Science and digital 
technology has never been more important. The 
Learning Centre will make a significant contribution 
to STEM learning in Northern Ireland and beyond.

Overall, the completion of these developments will 
be transformational for the Odyssey. Whilst Covid-19 
has presented many challenges for our business 
and people, we are continuing to plan and build 
for the future, to deliver an integrated world-class 
leisure and entertainment destination that the people 
of Belfast can be proud of. 

  Company Number: NI033106   Charity Commission NI number: 100113
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Our staff and volunteers work to ensure that 
users of the services and venues have the 
‘Best Experience Every Time’ (BEET). In 
2019-20 we employed 163 staff (full-time and 
part-time) to manage, operate and maintain 
the businesses. Volunteers are critical to our 
business, both as STEM Ambassadors and in 
enhancing visitor experience.

Demonstrating
Impact 2019/20

People
The Odyssey Trust Company Limited   

£44,707.93  
investment in staff training 
and development

volunteer supported
events35

casual staff334

employees163
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employees

registered volunteers
62

13,354 volunteer hours 

               charities – Action 
Mental Health and the Kevin 
Bell Repatriation Trust

TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT

We aim to support staff throughout their working 
lives at the Odyssey. All staff receive an 
induction and then job-related competencies are 
delivered to specific groups as required, to 
ensure that staff are confident and comfortable 
in their roles.

In our 2019 staff survey, 93% of staff felt that 
they reflected the values of the organisation on a 
daily basis. We invested £44,707.93 in staff 
training and development.

This included training in customer care, disability 
awareness, health and safety, food hygiene, risk 
assessment training, NSPCC Safeguarding 
training, fire safety, GDPR compliance, financial 
procedures, management support, mentoring 
and shadowing.

Health and Wellbeing

As part of our employment package, we support 
the health and wellbeing of staff, providing access 
to Health Shield, the Wellness App and access to 
the GP phone line. 

In June 2019, Odyssey Trust staff participated in 
the Active Travel Challenge, organised by 
Sustrans and Translink and funded by the Public 
Health Agency (PHA) and the Department for 
Infrastructure (DfI). The Odyssey came second in 
the 91-249 employee category as the most active 
workplace in Northern Ireland.

1,394  volunteer active 
STEM Ambassadors

19,889  volunteer STEM hours

£7,196.60 raised by staff for
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Best Experience Every Time
‘Best Experience Every Time’(BEET) is 
a central initiative across the Odyssey 
that places the customer at the heart of 
everything we do. This means that from 
start to finish, the total interaction between 
customer and business is the very best 
possible.

Across the Odyssey site, we deliver and 
sell world-class experiences. Our work is 
underpinned by a BEET ethos, which will 
benefit staff and customers alike. Our team 
has developed a series of promises, which 
we will use to deliver the Best Experience 
Every Time. 

 

BEET 2020-2021
Looking to the future, it will be more important 
than ever that we come together as one team 
to deliver on our strategic priorities in a post 
Covid world. This means robustly challenging 
old attitudes and creating a relentless 
pursuit of quality, efficiency and world-class 
delivery of our Best Experience Every Time 
(BEET) for every customer who visits our 
site. Our laser focus on the development and 
reimagining of our offering will ensure we can 
deliver on our BEET promise. 

Staff Pulse Survey Spring 2019
We undertook our second Odyssey staff survey in 
spring 2019, to identify areas for improvement in terms 
of employee welfare and satisfaction. We received 
feedback in relation to the need to improve internal 
communications. In response to this, we continued to 
review and develop the Odyssey Hub, an accessible 
intranet platform to deliver employee news. In March 
2020, we appointed a new head of communications 
and marketing, in recognition of the need to improve 
communications across the organisation. 

Significant efforts have been made to create a 
customer centric culture and the progress is evident in 
the survey responses, for example, 80% of staff agreed 
they had been trained to deliver a good customer 
experience. 

Empowerment and autonomy in decision making 
are integral to fostering a customer centric culture, in 
line with our BEET ethos, which was also reflected in 
responses to the survey: 88% of staff agreed with the 
statement, ‘I am aware of the limits of my authority 

I reflect the values of the organisation.

Internal Value

Positivity

Commitment

Teamwork

Innovation

Smile, can do

Go above and 
beyond

Together we 
achieve more

Find new ways to 
be better

We will always be helpful, 
welcoming and enthusiastic

We will go the extra mile

We will work together to put 
you first

We will always learn and 
improve

Internal 
Descriptor Customer Promise

and responsibility’; 82% felt they were  
‘empowered to make decisions at a level 
appropriate to my role’; while  81% agreed 
that they were ‘encouraged to go the extra 
mile for customers’.

Disagree
or strongly
disagree

Neutral Agree or
strongly 
agree

100%

75%

50%

25%

0%

Responses

2% 5%

93%
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Volunteering

In 2019-20, the Odyssey Trust had the 
support of 62 registered volunteers in 
various roles. Volunteering helps people 
make new friends, increases confidence 
and enables people to play a part in the 
community. Primarily providing support at 
Belfast Giants home games, volunteering 
roles range from customer service, to 
game day operations, and production 
behind the scenes.

We have many longstanding volunteers 
who have been with us for several years 
and others who joined during the year.

1BEET 
Odyssey staff came together to build on the foundations 
of the ‘1BEET’ fundraising initiative to raise vital funds to 
support local charities. Staff nominated and then voted 
for charities to support in 2019-20, with Aware NI and 
the Kevin Bell Repatriation Trust receiving the most 
votes.

During the year staff organised events and activities, 
raising £7,196.60 for 1BEET charities, through a 
range of fundraising initiatives, including the auction of 
specially commissioned Belfast Giants warm-up jerseys. 

The charities also used the partnership to raise 
awareness of their work. As part of the partnership with 
Action Mental Health, the Belfast Giants worked with the 
charity to promote the five steps to wellbeing to Belfast 
Giants fans and Odyssey Trust staff. 

The Kevin Bell Repatriation Trust also used the 
partnership to educate staff and customers about their 
work, which alleviates the financial hardship of bereaved 

families repatriating the bodies of loved ones who have 
died abroad in sudden or tragic circumstances.

“We are extremely pleased that the Odyssey Trust 
chose to focus on and support mental health and well-
being, and we thank them for helping us to raise much 
needed funds and awareness, tackling stigma and 
promoting positive mental health,” David Babington, 
chief executive, Action Mental Health. 

"Thank you to all at the Odyssey Trust for the wonderful 
donation to our Trust, raised by several fundraisers, 
spearheaded by Jeff Mason and the Belfast Giants.
 
“At a time when so many fundraisers have had to be 
postponed, this wonderful donation is all the more 
welcome and will allow us to continue to repatriate the 
bodies of loved ones who have died abroad.
 
“The staff at the Odyssey Trust could not have been 
kinder to us; a special highlight was our grandson Daniel 
throwing in the puck in for the Giants’ 7-3 victory over 
Guildford Flames. Thank you all again,” Colin and 
Eithne Bell, Kevin Bell Repatriation Trust
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Odyssey Trust - In the Community

The Odyssey Trust is a charity but also supports 
other charities in the delivery of its charitable 
goals, improving the conditions of life. It does so in 
a number of ways including raising awareness 
through supporting campaigns, providing facilities, 
supporting fundraising and events.

Children In Need 

On Friday 18 November, W5 was the venue for the 
BBC Northern Ireland’s live Children In Need 
broadcast. To mark the occasion, Belfast Giants 
players and Odyssey staff took part in a charity 
cycle, cycling for a total of 729 minutes (12.15 
hours) raising £482.44 for Pudsey, in support of 
local children’s charities. 

Cash for Kids
In support of Downtown Radio and Cool FM’s 
Cash for Kids Family Day, the Belfast Giants 
donated a total of 800 tickets to games to 
support fundraising in aid of children’s charities 
across Northern Ireland.

The Giants’ hugely successful Teddy Bear 
Toss initiative returned to the SSE Arena on 

7 December 2019, during the Giants Retro 
Anniversary doubleheader against Sheffield 
Steelers.

A massive 1,400 teddies were collected and 
donated to the Cash for Kids Mission Christmas 
campaign, with Giants players also hand 
delivering teddies to children and staff at the 
Ulster and Royal hospitals. 
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You Can Play – Pride weekend
The Belfast Giants hosted a ‘You Can Play’ 
night at the home game against Glasgow Clan 
on Saturday 25 January as part of the Elite Ice 
Hockey League’s first ever Pride Weekend.

‘In the Land of the Giants, Everyone is Equal’ 
has been the Giants’ mantra from inception 
in 2000. Fans from all communities and all 
backgrounds attended the ‘You Can Play’ game, 
where the Giants celebrated 20 seasons of 
inclusion.

To mark the occasion, the Giants wore specially 
commissioned jerseys that featured the rainbow 
colours, ‘In the Land of the Giants, Everyone 
is Equal’ and ‘Game for all, Game for anyone’ 
emblazoned across them. 

Thanks to You 
To celebrate The National Lottery turning 25, 
the Odyssey Trust joined Lottery funded venues 
throughout the UK to say #ThankstoYou, giving 
back to members of the public that have helped 
to raise more than £40billion to support good 
causes.

Odyssey, built on a former coal quay and 
derelict site in Belfast, was Northern Ireland’s 
millennium project costing £91m to build, £45m 
of which was provided by Lottery funding. 

For 25 years The National Lottery has changed 
the lives of winners has supported good causes 
across the UK. In celebration, National Lottery 
funded projects and attractions offered free 
entry or special offers at hundreds of venues 
between 23 November and 1 December 2019.
The Odyssey Trust was proud to offer 250 
complimentary tickets to W5 and a further 250 
complimentary tickets to the NCAA Friendship 
Four final as part of the initiative.
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The Odyssey Trust 
Company Limited
Governance

The Board of Trustees, who are also 
Directors of The Odyssey Trust Company 
Limited (the Company, the Charity, the 
charitable company) for the purposes of the 
Companies Act 2006, presents its strategic 
report and the audited financial statements 
of the company and its subsidiary companies 
(together the Group) for the year ended 31 
March 2020.

The Trustees have adopted the provisions of 
the Companies Act 2006, the Charities Act 
(Northern Ireland) 2008(13) and Accounting 
and Reporting by Charities: Statement 
of Recommended Practice applicable to 
charities preparing their financial statements 
in accordance with the Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic 
of Ireland (FRS 102), effective 1 January 
2015 (Charities SORP (FRS 102)), in 
preparing the Annual Report and financial 
statements of the Group and the charitable 
company.

Strategic Report and 
Trustees' Annual 
Report - Governance 
and Financial Review

The Odyssey Trust Company Limited   
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Structure, Governance and 
Management

The Charity is a company limited by guarantee 
with charitable status (registered with the Charity 
Commission for Northern Ireland on 5 April 2016 
(NIC 100113)); as such, it does not have any 
share capital. The Charity's was established 
under a Memorandum of Association, which 
sets out the objects and powers of the charitable 
company and is governed under its Articles of 
Association. The Trustees are members of the 
Charity and in the event of the Charity being 
wound up as members they are required to 
contribute an amount not exceeding £10. The 
company, being a charity registered with the 
HMRC (XR23673) for the full year, has no liability 
to corporation tax.

Trustees and Directors

The Trustees of the Charity under the 
requirements of the Memorandum and Articles of 
Association are elected to serve on the Board for 
a period of four years and can be re-elected for a 
further period of up to six years.

The Trustees seek to ensure that a broad 
representation of skills is properly reflected 
on the Board to include skills in the areas of 
finance, legal, science, education, marketing and 
property.
 

The Board currently consists of 11 Trustees/
Directors with a maximum of 12 Trustees/
Directors (minimum 7) who meet throughout 
the year and are responsible for the strategic 
direction and policy of the Charity. During the 
financial year, the Board met four times.

Sub committees of the Board consist of 
Audit, Risk and Investment Committee and 
Remuneration and Nomination Committee. 
The purpose of the Audit, Risk and Investment 
Committee is to monitor the effectiveness 
of financial reporting, internal control and 
risk management systems, processes and 
investments. The Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee determines and agrees with the 
Board the framework for the overall remuneration 
of the Chief Executive Officer and the Executive 
Team. The salaries of the Executive Team 
are reviewed annually and adjusted to reflect 
average earnings. Remuneration is benchmarked 
against pay levels in similar sectors by functional 
role and adjusted accordingly to ensure salaries 
are at a level which will ensure that the Charity 
continues to attract and retain the appropriate 
senior staff for each specific role.

A scheme of delegation is in place and day-to-
day responsibility for the provision of the services 
rests with the Chief Executive Officer assisted by 
an Executive Team covering finance, corporate 
operations and experience. The Chief Executive 
Officer is responsible for ensuring that the 
Charity delivers the services specified and that 
key performance indicators are met. 

Trustees’ Induction and Training

New Trustees attend a detailed initial induction 
session which aims to familiarise them with their 
role and responsibilities and the background 
and purpose of the Group detailing the Group 
company structure.

The induction sessions are led by the Chief 
Executive Officer and include the following areas:

● charitable objectives and purpose together with 
business and strategic plans;

● an overview of the main legal agreements 
within which the Group and Charity operate;

● the current financial position of the Group and 
Charity; and

● details of the key issues affecting the Group 
and Charity including a review of the risk register.

The Trustees/Directors have complied with the 
requirements to present a Strategic report and 
Directors report under the Companies Act 2006 
within the body of the Annual Report of the 
Trustees.
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Financial Review
The financial results for year ending 31 March 2020 
have been unsurprisingly overshadowed by the 
impact of COVID-19. The charity’s results have been 
impacted with the closure in March 2020 of W5, SSE 
Arena, the premature ending of the Elite League ice 
hockey season with the cancellation of the final 
Belfast Giants games and closure of the Odyssey car 
park. With the pandemic staff were furloughed leaving 
a small critical team of key staff. The global 
uncertainty adversely impacted on the value of the 
investments held with Smith & Williamson. Overall the 
income decreased by £1,264,822 (7.2%). This was 
mainly attributable to a reduction in commercial 
trading income through the trading subsidiary 
companies in food and beverage, Belfast Giants 
income, arena income and car parking. Income from 
charitable activities decreased by £584,049 with a 
reduction in arena rental income and admissions to 
W5. The income reduction is a direct result of the 
closure of business operations due to the pandemic 
and the closure of exhibit floors in 
Whowhatwherewhenwhy Limited to facilitate the 
refurbishment of the exhibits under the Inspiring 
Science Fund.

The Group financial statements for the financial year 
show net incoming resources before depreciation and 
losses on investments of £2,027,902 (2019 ( as 
restated) – net incoming resources of £3,070,390) 
with a total funds held at the end of the financial year 
of £49,521,177 (2019 - (as restated) £49,903,937). 
Expenditure on charitable activities totalled 
£6,229,509 (2019 - £7,075,992) showing a 
commitment by the Board of Trustees to deliver 
against the Charity’s objectives.

The Charity continued to support W5 during the year 
providing a subvention of £404,625 in 2020 (2019 - 
£503,860).

The Charity, in line with the objective to maintain and 
develop the facility to the highest standard, continued 
to invest in the maintenance and capital expenditure 
programme. This included capital expenditure of 
£2,307,960 during the year relating to the Inspiring 
Science exhibits, information technology with a 
customer relationship management system to meet  
continued BEET (Best Experience Every Time) 
initiatives to enhance the customer experience and  
new lifts within SSE Arena. Capital expenditure in the 
prior year was £2,494,095.

 
FINANCIAL RESOURCES
Investments and bank holdings reduced by 
£2,356,880 representing a decrease in bank and 
cash of £2,051,100, increase in term deposits of 
£457,362, release of the rent deposit £700,571 and 
an decrease in investments of £62,571. The bank 
and cash reduction is reflective of the matched capital 
investment as part of the Inspiring Science Fund, 
capital expenditure and reduction in ticket monies held 
within the arena ticket deposit account.

Trade debtors increased by £98,863 due to funds 
owing for Friendship Four and a capital contribution 
towards car park equipment.  Prepayments and 
accrued income increased by £652,261 which in the 
main is reflective of a prepayment for the acquisition 
of apartments to house Belfast Giants’ players 
which did not complete at the Balance Sheet date, 
countered with a reduction in capital grant monies 
from Tourism Northern Ireland for the AMAZE exhibit 
in 2019. Stock decreased by £58,150 this is a result 
of an increased stock provision against perishable 
food and beverage products given the closure of the 
SSE arena and W5 due to the pandemic. The food 
stock which remained within date was donated to food 
banks.

Trade creditors decreased by £643,483 due to 
reduced activity with fewer events in the SSE arena 
due to the closure in March from COVID-19. 

The apartment acquisition is financed through a 
bank loan from Barclays. Accrued income includes a 
contribution for car park equipment from the Pavilion 
tenant totalling £41,158. Increased tax and social 
security relates to higher payroll costs.

The increase in long-term creditors of £58,458 
represents a further annual payment on a commercial 
contract entered into by the Group to benefit future 
profitability and cashflows of the business and the 
reclassification of the rent deposit from long-term 
creditors.

£6,229,509

capital spend
in 2019-2020£2,307,960

charitable spend in 2019-20
£2,356,880
reduction in financial resources in 2019-2020
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INVESTMENTS
During 2020 the remaining funds from the prior 
year were invested in securities. The value of the 
portfolio as at the 31 March 2020 totals £438,647 
(2019 £501,218). Covid 19 impacted the markets 
which has seen the value of the investments fall by 
£62,571 to the end of March 2020. This represents 
a 12.5% capital fall. Investment markets remain 
volatile during the continued pandemic. The 
fund manager performance is measured against 
benchmarks during the year on a quarterly basis. 
The MSCI PIMFA Bal bench mark shows a fall 
of 7.93% between 2019 and 2020, which has 
performed marginally better than the portfolio. The 
estimated gross yield on securities is 3.8%. As at 
31 August 2020 the investments had increased to 
£506,670 after a period of falls which places the 
portfolio above the 2019 value.

POLITICAL AND CHARITABLE 
DONATIONS
Neither the Charity nor the Group has made any 
political contributions during the year (2019: none) 
 
 
 

 
 

 

GOING CONCERN
Just prior to the year end Covid-19 was declared 
a global pandemic. To help prevent the spread of 
coronavirus, and acting in line with government 
guidance, the Charity closed all operating 
businesses, The SSE Arena, Belfast, W5 and the car 
park in mid-March 2020. The Charity has undertaken 
a number of measures to mitigate the financial 
impact of Covid-19 including:

● curtailed operating expenditure 
● postponed planned capital expenditure 
● utilised the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme 
● deferred VAT payment as allowed under the 
government support measures 
● obtained business rates relief 
● secured a Coronavirus Business Interruption Loan 
which the Trustees are committed to drawing down 
in line with the required terms and conditions
● received funding under the Covid-19 Charity Fund. 

The Trustees have reviewed a number of potential 
financial scenarios on how the pandemic may 
continue to impact on the potential timing around 
the reopening of the trading operations taking into 
account worst case options. The scenarios are 
based on the reopening of the trading businesses in 
either April 2021, September 2021 or April 2022. 

The use of the going concern basis of accounting 
is appropriate for a 12-month period from the 
date of approving the financial statements as the 
Trustees are satisfied with the cash flow forecasts 
demonstrate that there is access to sufficient liquidity 

through the use of unrestricted reserves and the 
Coronavirus Business Interruption Loan to enable 
the Group or Charity to continue as a going concern.

FUNDING SOURCES
The original capital expenditure to build the 
Odyssey complex in 2000 was funded in total by 
a combination of grant aid from the Millennium 
Commission (now The National Lottery Community 
Fund), Department of Communities (formally known 
as DCAL), Laganside, Sports Council for Northern 
Ireland and the private sector. DCAL continued to 
provide revenue and capital funding towards W5. 
This ceased on 31 March 2015.

The Charity has in the past and continues to fund 
the charitable activities through charges for use 
of the facilities (rents and admission charges) and 
covenanted payments received from its wholly 
owned trading subsidiaries which generate money 
through on site commercial activities, food and 
beverage, merchandising, sponsorship and car 
parking.

The Group and Charity continue to work tirelessly to 
secure income to finance the ongoing activities.
A Group business and strategic plan is continually 
implemented and updated, alongside annual budgets 
of income and expenditure to address the challenges 
in the current financial climate.
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RESERVES POLICY
The original Funding Agreements with the Millennium 
Commission and the policy of the Board is that 
reserves are maintained at levels considering the 
nature of the business, the provision of funds for 
asset replacement as detailed under the Life Cycle 
Report and to help safeguard the future viability of 
the Odyssey complex. These are considered and 
reflected in the Business and Strategic Plan for
2018 - 21.

The Charity’s reserves are required to help ensure 
the continuity of its operations in the event of an 
unexpected fall in income or some other unforeseen 
event, and to ensure it is able to provide for the long 
term maintenance requirements of the buildings, and 
fund further improvements.

In assessing the level of reserves required for 
the Charity, the Charity has considered the 
guidance issued by the Charity Commission for 
Northern Ireland. A review of the Charity’s income, 
expenditure, operational commitments, future plans 
and key risks has been carried out to establish the 
appropriate level of reserves.

Total reserves held at 31 March 2020 were 
£49,521,177 of which £13,524,275 were unrestricted 
funds (see note 27). Of this total £4,537,877 
represents the general reserves of the Charity and 
the remaining £8,986,398 has been allocated as 
designated funds. The balance of total reserves 
totalling £35,996,902 forms the Charity’s restricted 
funds.

UNRESTRICTED FUNDS

• The unrestricted reserve funds are specified as 
follows:

the general reserve fund is to support the financial 
viability of the Group and enable it to continue its 
work in line with its charitable objectives. It is the 
aim of the Group to carry a general reserve fund at 
the level of six months charitable expenditure which 
would equate to £3,114,754. The level in this fund 
at 31 March 2020 was £4,537,877 which represents 
8.74 months of charitable expenditure. Given the 
continuing uncertainty with COVID-19 the group has 
reallocated a portion of designated reserves into the 
general reserve to support the sustainability of the 
Charity with the continued closure of the Charity’s 
trading operations which places the general reserve 
higher than six months charitable expenditure. 

DESIGNATED FUNDS

• the designated fund of £8,986,398 has been 
established to create a reserve necessary to fund 
the W5 operating deficit, a rolling programme for 
the upgrade of W5 exhibits, capital expenditure 
requirements as identified in the lifecycle report for 
the building and internal building fabric, operational 
support requirements for the Arena including 
information technology renewal.

– £2,149,000 W5 exhibit renewal under Inspiring 
Science, W5 lift replacement, new exhibits for 
Discovery within the science centre, SSE Arena food 

and beverage refurbishment, car park equipment, 
replacement of electric meters and ongoing spend 
on the customer relationship management system to 
be incurred within the next two years.

• £1,860,974 Arena support and development 
expected to be incurred within the next six years.

• £694,809 W5 operating deficit expected to be 
incurred within the next 12 months.

• £4,281,615 capital development as per Lifecycle 
Report and fit out of the additional space acquired for 
W5 in 2018 with spend expected within the next two 
years.

The restricted reserve funds include Construction 
Fund, Friendship Four, Champions League Fund, 
W5 Fund, Car Park Equipment Fund, 1BEET Fund 
and Estate Management Fund.
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Designated Funds (capital and Arena
redevelopment and W5 subvention)

£8,986,398
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RESTRICTED FUNDS
● Construction Fund was £35,953,641 at 31 
March 2020 representing money received from 
the funders relating to the initial capital cost from 
construction of the project less depreciation.

● Friendship Four Fund represents money 
received from funders less expenditure incurred 
to enable the hosting of the Friendship Four 
amateur ice hockey tournament for 2019-20.

● Champions League Fund represents 
money received from International Ice Hockey 
Federation less expenditure incurred to host the 
Champions League final.

● W5 fund represents the income and 
expenditure for W5, the wholly owned subsidiary 
of the Charity, which also has charitable status.

● Car Park Equipment Fund is a contribution 
received from the Pavilion tenant Matagorda 
Limited towards a car park validator system.

● 1BEET Fund is monies collected through staff 
fundraising and the auction of Belfast Giants 
shirts to support the nominated charity Kevin Bell 
Repatriation Trust.

● Estate Management Fund is for the purpose 
of providing services for the entire Odyssey 
site, which are recharged to the tenants. These 
services include security, maintenance, cleaning, 
electricity and insurance.

The reserves policy is monitored on a regular 
basis to ensure compliance with this policy and 
reviewed annually.

(can only be spent as donor directs)
£35,996,902

  Company Number: NI033106   Charity Commission NI number: 100113
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INVESTMENT POLICY
The investment policy provides a framework 
for making investment decisions to aid the 
Trustees in managing the Group resources 
effectively and demonstrate good governance. 
The Group has adopted an investment policy 
which supports the reserves policy. The 
purpose of the investment policy is to ensure 
that when investing charitable funds, the Group 
achieves an appropriate balance for the Charity 
between the two objectives of:

a) providing an income to effectively 
support the activities of the Group in line with its 
charitable objectives in the short term; and

b) maintaining and enhancing the value of 
the invested funds, so as to enable the Group 
effectively to carry out its purposes in the longer 
term.

The investment policy is reviewed annually to 
ensure that it continues to reflect the needs of 
the Group.

The Charity receives income from covenanted 
payments from its trading subsidiaries, grants 
and other sources. Financial budgets are set to 
cover revenue and capital expenditure and any 
surplus is used to build the free reserves target.

During the year the Charity invested funds 
both within securities and short-term deposits. 
The investment strategy included securities 

to increase the return on Charity funds as the 
return on deposits continues to be depressed. 
The Charity holds a diversified portfolio of 
securities managed by Smith & Williamson 
Investment Management LLP. The investment 
risk tolerance is agreed as medium. The asset 
base is to be diversified in order to protect the 
Charity’s investments from sudden variations 
in the market. Capital volatility is accepted 
on the basis of capital value being held in the 
long term. The income yield agreed with the 
investment manager and built into the financial 
budgeting process is not less than 3%. The 
Charity will not place any direct investment into 
armaments. The investment fund manager uses 
EIRIS – an independent tool which screens 
investments for a positive environmental, 
social and governance rating known as a 
sustainability rating. The investments will only 
involve companies with a “C” classification or 
better for sustainability. The performance of the 
funds is bench marked against the MSCI WMA 
Balanced Index and other relevant indices.

The Charity’s investments include interest 
bearing term deposits having no risk to the 
capital deposited. In 2019/20 interest rates 
continued to be poor with rates ranging from 
0.45% to 0.60%.

Short-term deposits and securities held in 2020

£5,463,661

  Company Number: NI033106   Charity Commission NI number: 100113
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RELATED PARTIES 

The Charity has a number of subsidiary 
undertakings which it considers to be related 
parties. The subsidiary undertakings and their 
principal activities are as follows:

● OML Belfast Limited - Principal activities 
are to operate the SSE Arena Belfast, which 
attracts a wide range of artists and events to 
Northern Ireland, manage the Belfast Giants, 
manage the Odyssey car park with 1,500 
spaces and have responsibility for the estate
management services of the Odyssey 
complex, which comprises the W5 science and 
discovery Centre, SSE Arena Belfast, Odyssey 
Pavilion and Odyssey car park.

● Odyssey Property Company - Principal 
activities are the ownership and rental of the 
Odyssey Pavilion and rental of this property. An 
element of this asset is sub-leased to 
whowhatwherewhenwhy (W5), which is also a 
wholly owned subsidiary of the Charity.

● Whowhatwherewhenwhy (W5) - Aim is to 
educate the public and to promote awareness, 
appreciation and understanding of art, history, 
science, the culture and way of life of people, 
the migration and settlement of people and, in 
particular, the heritage of Northern Ireland.

● Whowhatwherewhenwhyonline Limited 
Principal activity is the operation of a retail 
shop, coffee shop and corporate sponsorship 

activities at the W5 science and discovery 
centre in Belfast.

● Odyssey Construction Company Limited 
- A dormant subsidiary company, which was 
established during the construction of the 
Odyssey complex; and

● Silverstream Enterprises Limited - Is a 
dormant subsidiary company.

The subsidiaries have made covenanted 
payments transferring (subject to maintenance 
of appropriate reserves) all or substantially all 
of their taxable profits to the Charity to enable 
it to deliver its charitable objectives. W5 Online 
Limited makes a covenanted payment of its 
taxable profits to W5. Further details of these 
subsidiaries are disclosed in note 16 of these 
financial statements. During 2019-20 The 
Odyssey Trust Company Trustees from time to 
time attended events held in W5 and/or the 
SSE Arena, Belfast. The private benefits to 
unremunerated Trustees were incidental to and 
a by-product of the delivery of the benefits 
provided to the Charity’s beneficiaries.

  Company Number: NI033106   Charity Commission NI number: 100113
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RISK POLICY
The Board of Trustees has implemented systems of 
internal control, which are designed to provide 
reasonable, but not absolute assurance against 
material misstatement or loss. The systems include:

● a strategic plan and an annual budget approved by 
the Board;

● regular consideration by the Board of financial 
results, variance from budgets and non-financial 
performance indicators;

● delegation of authority and segregation of duties;

● identification and management of risks.

The Board of Trustees has introduced a formal risk 
management process to assess business risks and 
implement risk management strategies. This involves 
identifying the types of risks the Group and Charity 
faces, prioritising them in terms of potential impact 
and likelihood of occurrence, and identifying means 
of mitigating the risks. As part of this process, the 
Trustees have reviewed the adequacy of the Group 
and Charity’s current internal controls.

The Group and Charity has an Internal Audit service 
provided by Ernst & Young LLP, which operates to 
standards defined by the Institute of Internal 
Auditors. They submit regular reports, which include 
their independent opinion on the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the Charity’s system of internal 
control together with recommendations for 
improvement.

The Trustees’ review of the effectiveness of the 
system of internal financial control is informed by the 
work of the internal auditors and the Executive Team 
within the Group and Charity who have responsibility 
for the development and maintenance of the internal 
control framework, and comments made by the 
external auditors in their management letter and 
other reports.

In addition, the Trustees have considered the 
guidance for Directors of public listed companies 
contained within the Combined Code. They believe 
that although this is not mandatory for the Charity 
and they have not adopted the Code, it should, as a 
public interest body, consider these guidelines as 
best practice. Accordingly they have set policies on 
internal controls which cover the following:

● consideration of the type of risks the Group and 
Charity faces;

● the level of risks which they regard as acceptable;

● the likelihood of the risks concerned materialising;

● the Group and Charity’s ability to reduce the 
incidence and impact on the business of risks that do 
materialise;

● the costs of operating particular controls relative to 
the benefit obtainable;

● the responsibility of management to implement the 
Trustees’ policies and identify and evaluate risks for 
their consideration;

● communication of employees' responsibility for 
internal control as part of their accountability for 
achieving objectives;

● embedding the control system in the Group and 
Charity’s operations so that it becomes part of the 
culture of the Charity;

● systems to respond quickly to evolving risks arising 
from factors within the Group and Charity and to 
changes in the external environment;

● procedures for reporting failings immediately to 
appropriate management and the Trustees together 
with details of corrective action being undertaken.

Covid-19

There continues to be uncertainty on the impact of 
the ongoing global Covid-19 pandemic. The Trustees 
and Executive Team continue to monitor the 
situation, reviewing UK Government guidance and 
recognise that the Charity faces a prolonged period 
of uncertainty. The Group is in a good financial 
position to help manage the risk. With investment in 
the prior year on information technology the 
infrastructure is in place to enable staff to work 
remotely.
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SAFEGUARDING
Safeguarding continues to be a priority and 
remains central to the delivery of services across 
the Group. Our policy provides a framework to 
ensure that children, young people and adults at 
risk are protected from harm while they visit the 
Group premises. This is through careful selection 
and recruitment to ensure appropriate and relevant 
supervision is provided to staff. Staff and Trustees 
are trained on ‘Safeguarding Children and Young 
People’ and delivery of the policy and procedures 
when joining the Charity which is refreshed on 
a three-year cycle, utilising expert trainers from 
NSPCC. Enhanced training is provided to the 
Designated Officers across the site, currently 17, 
who provide support to staff and ensure staff are 
clear about the Charity’s expectations around 
behaviours in relation to safeguarding and the 
consequence of breaching these rules. The policy is 
reviewed every three years. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

FINANCIAL RISK 
MANAGEMENT POLICY
The Group and Charity’s principal financial 
instruments comprise cash, bank deposits, trade 
debtors and creditors, Group indebtedness and 
certain other debtors and accruals. The main risks 
and policies associated with these financial assets 
and liabilities are set out as follows:

Liquidity risk

The Trustees do not believe that the Charity has 
significant exposures arising from liquidity risks.

Investments in securities and bank 
term deposits

The Group and Charity's policy is to invest in 
securities with a medium risk to capital invested. 
The exposure to risk is mitigated by a diversified 
securities portfolio. Bank deposits are also held with 
major banking institutions with a very low risk to 
capital invested.

Credit risk

The largest element of the Group and Charity’s 
income is collected in cash or cash equivalents. 
Where there is credit risk the Group and Charity 
operate a well-defined credit control system to 
ensure exposure to bad debts is minimised.

Business performance risk

Business performance risk is the risk that the Group 
and Charity may not perform as expected either due 
to internal factors or due to competitive pressures 
in the markets in which it operates. This risk is 
managed through a number of measures: ensuring 
the appropriate management team is in place, 
budget and business planning, monthly reporting 
and variance analysis, financial controls and market 
analysis.

Value

The Executive Team and Department Heads 
are responsible for identifying value efficiencies 
which are built into the budget planning process. 
Meetings have been held site wide with managers 
and accountants to provide ongoing support to 
these initiatives. This includes operational changes, 
centralising functions and challenging the cost 
base for services and goods provided internally and 
externally.
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Business continuity risk

The Group and Charity have detailed business 
continuity plans in place should a significant unforeseen 
event occur. A Crisis Management Policy and plan is 
reviewed and updated frequently. The Plan is based on 
a matrix system which determines the required 
escalation of any incident. A crisis management team 
aided by a crisis support team provide strategic and 
operational control of any incident that escalates to 
crisis level. With the assistance of risk and resilience 
consultants, scenario based exercises are held annually 
for staff training and to confirm the relevance of the 
current plan.

General Data Protection Regulation 
(GDPR)

The GDPR Lead continues to liaise with a specialist 
advisor and internal auditors to review potential 
areas of risk across the Group and identify actions to 
address any recommendations. The process includes 
a programme of staff training and awareness across all 
areas of the business, and the establishment of a cross-
departmental GDPR working group providing a focal 
point for the review of GDPR-related issues. The group 
has overseen the development and implementation of 
appropriate policies, with mechanisms in place for the 
investigation of potential breaches and regular reporting 
at senior management and Board level. All staff are 
required to attend regular GDPR and IT security training 
sessions, with GDPR elements included within new staff 
inductions, to ensure that priority continues to be given 
to the awareness of GDPR legislation and identification 
and analysis of associated risks.

Health and Safety risk

The Charity is committed to ensuring a safe working 
environment. Risks are managed by the Group and 
Charity through the strong promotion of a health and 
safety culture and well defined health and safety 
policies.

The Charity is committed to a programme of continual 
improvement in Occupational Health and Safety (OH&S) 
management and performance to all employees, 
contractors/sub-contractors, visitors and anyone else 
who might be exposed to the company’s activities.

The Charity has established, implemented and 
maintained an OH&S policy that includes a commitment 
to provide safe and healthy working conditions for the 
prevention of work-related injury and/or ill health and 
is appropriate to the purpose, size and context of the 
organisation and to the specific nature of its OH&S risks 
and OH&S opportunities.

The Charity accepts the responsibilities under the 
relevant prevailing OH&S legislation along with the 
associated regulations, agreed codes of practice and 
guidance notes. We achieve this objective through a risk 
assessment approach to safety management to ensure 
that safe systems at work, information, instruction and 
training, effective supervision and monitoring of safety 
standards are appropriate.

The Charity has devised procedures and audits 
and in turn meets with managers and employees to 
review general standards and identify any areas for 
improvement to ensure targets are maintained for the 
reduction and prevention of accidents, work-related ill 
health and accident-related loss of time and resources. 
The Health and Safety policy ensures that a number 
of staff are paediatric first aid trained as the majority of 
visitors are children. In addition risk assessments take 
account of children in reference to hazards.

Management development

Senior management is committed to ensuring the 
long-term sustainability of the Group and Charity. This is 
achieved by retaining and attracting high quality 
personnel and providing support to managers through 
training, development and mentoring. Managers are 
provided with the tools to achieve personally and to 
ensure their staff reach their full potential to deliver on 
our core commitments of Positivity, Integrity, 
Commitment, Innovation and Teamwork.

Financial and business control

Robust financial and business controls are necessary to 
ensure the reliability of financial and other information 
on which the Group and Charity rely for day-to-day 
operations, external reporting and for long-term 
planning. Financial and business control is achieved 
through a combination of qualified and experienced 
financial personnel, budgeting and monitoring cash flow, 
forecasting, clearly defined approval limits and internal 
control audits to independently assess the adequacy of 
these systems.

Social, ethical and environmental risk

Following from its charitable objectives the activities of 
the Group and Charity seek to bring social benefits to 
the public in Northern Ireland and at large. The Group 
and Charity continue to monitor the provision of these 
benefits and there are not considered to be any major 
risks to achieving these objectives.
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Plans for future periods
The financial year ended 31 March 2020 saw 
the exciting renaissance of W5. The three-year 
investment programme, funded by Inspiring Science, 
will continue to renew the exhibition areas to 
maintain the science centre at the highest standard 
and update it with the latest developments within the 
market. Given the current Covid-19 circumstances, 
the completion date of the investment programme 
has moved to Autumn 2021.

The investment programme included the opening 
of a new and extended W5 shop and café and the 
launch of MED-Lab, the first of eight exciting new 
exhibition areas. This programme of renewal, which 
includes both capital works and the development of a 
new public engagement strategy and programming, 
will enable W5 to extend its reach and impact 
with audiences across Northern Ireland and 
beyond. It includes a new immersive, technology 
experience, AMAZE which will be followed by a 
complete refurbishment of W5’s exhibition galleries, 
refurbishment of the science theatre, teaching 
spaces, demonstration areas and outreach vehicles.

Detailed Business and Strategic Plans have been 
prepared for the Group and Charity for 2018-21 in 
overview:

● The Charity continues to generate funds to sustain 
its main charitable objectives through its trading 
subsidiaries.

● W5 continues to operate the science and 
discovery centre, attracting visitor numbers of in 
excess of 270,000 (plus 30,000 through outreach 
programmes), to contribute to the advancement of 
scientific knowledge and education. The Charity has 
built in full financial support for W5 into its short and 
medium term financial budgets.

● Capital investment in W5 of £4.5m to refurbish 
exhibit floors with £3m of this funding from the 
Inspiring Science Fund.

● The SSE Arena to continue to generate income 
(in OML Belfast) to attract audiences of in excess of 
550,000 through a broad programme of music, sport 
and family shows to be reinvested in the charitable 
activities of the Charity.

● Planned capital spend on the Arena to improve 
the building and facilities in order to maintain the 
facilities to a high standard and to keep it up to date 
with the latest developments in the market.

● Trading subsidiary budgets set and new 
activities sought to provide funds for the Charity for 
reinvestment in the charitable activities of the Group.

The effects of COVID-19 will continue to affect future 
plans and the Trustees and Executive will continue to 
review and make changes as circumstances dictate.
 
 
 

Reference and
administrative 
details
The Trustees who served during the year and up to 
the date of approving these financial statements are 
as listed on page 84. Other administrative details are 
included on page 84.

EXEMPTIONS FROM 
DISCLOSURE 

Medium companies’ exemption

This report has been prepared in accordance with 
the special provisions relating to medium companies 
within Part 15 of the Companies Act 2006. 

FUNDS HELD AS A 
CUSTODIAN TRUSTEE ON 
BEHALF OF OTHERS 
There are no funds held as custodian Trustee on 
behalf of others. 

The Odyssey Trust Company Limited     Company Number: NI033106   Charity Commission NI number: 100113
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STATEMENT OF TRUSTEES’ 
RESPONSIBILITIES IN 
RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
The Trustees (who are also Directors of The 
Odyssey Trust Company Limited for the purposes 
of company law) are responsible for preparing the 
Annual Report and the financial statements including 
the Strategic Report in accordance with applicable 
law and regulation.

Company law requires the Trustees to prepare 
financial statements for each financial year. Under 
that law the Trustees have prepared the financial 
statements in accordance with United Kingdom 
Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 102 “The 
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK 
and Republic of Ireland”, and applicable law (United 
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 
Under company law the Trustees must not approve 
the financial statements unless they are satisfied 
that they give a true and fair view of the state of the 
affairs of the charitable company and the Group 
and of the incoming resources and application of 
resources, including the income and expenditure, 
of the charitable group for that period. In preparing 
these financial statements, the Trustees are required 
to:

● select suitable accounting policies and then apply 
them consistently; 

● observe the methods and principles in the 
Statement of Recommended Practice:
Accounting and Reporting by Charities (2015);

● make judgments and estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent;

● state whether applicable UK Accounting 
Standards, comprising FRS 102, have been 
followed, subject to any material departures 
disclosed and explained in the financial statements; 
and

● prepare the financial statements on the going 
concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume 
that the charitable company will continue in business.

The Trustees are responsible for keeping adequate 
accounting records that are sufficient to show and 
explain the charitable company’s transactions and 
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the 
financial position of the charitable company and the 
Group and enable them to ensure that the financial 
statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. 
They are also responsible for safeguarding the 
assets of the charitable company and the Group and 
hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention 
and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Trustees are responsible for the maintenance 
and integrity of the charitable company's website.
Legislation in the United Kingdom governing 
the preparation and dissemination of financial 
statements may differ from legislation in other 
jurisdictions.

STATEMENT OF DISCLOSURE 
OF INFORMATION TO 
AUDITORS
So far as each of the Directors/Trustees in office at 
the date of approval of these financial statements is 
aware:

● there is no relevant audit information of which 
the Group and Charitable company’s auditors are 
unaware; and

● they have taken all the steps that they ought to 
have taken as Directors/Trustees in order to make 
themselves aware of any relevant audit
information and to establish that the Group and 
Charitable company’s auditors are aware of that 
information.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
The auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP have 
indicated their willingness to remain in office until 
new auditors are appointed in accordance with good 
corporate governance.

By order of the Board

14 December 2020
E Porter
Chair and Trustee
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Report on the audit 
of the financial 
statements
OPINION

In our opinion, The Odyssey Trust Company’s group 
financial statements and parent charitable company 
financial statements (the “financial statements”):

 ● give a true and fair view of the state of the 
group’s and of the parent charitable company’s 
affairs as at 31 March 2020  and of the group’s 
and parent charitable company’s incoming 
resources and application of resources, including 
its income and expenditure, and of the group’s 
cash flows, for the year then ended;

 ● have been properly prepared in accordance with 
United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards, 
comprising FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of 
Ireland”, and applicable law); and

 ● have been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

The Odyssey Trust Company Limited   

Independent 
auditors’  
report to the 
members of
The Odyssey Trust 
Company Limited
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We have audited the financial statements, included 
within the Annual Report and financial statements 
(the “Annual Report”), which comprise: the group 
and parent charitable company balance sheets as at 
31 March 2020; the group statement of financial 
activities, the group cash flow statement for the year 
then ended; the accounting policies; and the notes to 
the financial statements. 
 

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs 
(UK)”) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under 
ISAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors’ 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements section of our report. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We remained independent of the charitable company 
in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the 
UK, which includes the FRC’s Ethical Standard and 
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements.

CONCLUSIONS RELATING TO GOING 
CONCERN

We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
matters in relation to which ISAs (UK) require us to 
report to you when:

● the trustees’ use of the going concern basis 
of accounting in the preparation of the financial 
statements is not appropriate; or

● the trustees have not disclosed in the financial 
statements any identified material uncertainties that 
may cast significant doubt about the group’s and 
parent charitable company’s ability to continue to 
adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a 
period of at least twelve months from the date when 
the financial statements are authorised for issue.

However, because not all future events or conditions 
can be predicted, this statement is not a guarantee 
as to the group’s and parent charitable company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern.

REPORTING ON OTHER 
INFORMATION 

The other information comprises all of the 
information in the Annual Report other than the 
financial statements and our auditors’ report 
thereon. The trustees are responsible for the 
other information. Our opinion on the financial 
statements does not cover the other information and, 
accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, 

except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this 
report, any form of assurance thereon. 
In connection with our audit of the financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether 
the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. If we identify an apparent 
material inconsistency or material misstatement, 
we are required to perform procedures to conclude 
whether there is a material misstatement of the 
financial statements or a material misstatement of 
the other information. If, based on the work we have 
performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report 
based on these responsibilities.
Based on the responsibilities described above and 
our work undertaken in the course of the audit, ISAs 
(UK) require us also to report certain opinions and 
matters as described below.

Strategic Report and Trustees’ Annual 
Report

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the 
course of the audit the information given in the 
Trustees’ Annual Report, including the Strategic 
Report, for the financial year for which the financial 
statements are prepared is consistent with the 
financial statements; and Trustees’ Annual Report 
has been prepared in accordance with applicable 
legal requirements.
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In addition, in light of the knowledge and understanding 
of the group and parent charitable company and their 
environment obtained in the course of the audit, we are 
required to report if we have identified any material 
misstatements in the Trustees’ Annual Report. We 
have nothing to report in this respect.

RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND THE 
AUDIT
Responsibilities of the trustees for the financial 
statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of Trustees’ 
Responsibilities  set out on page 48, the trustees (who 
are also the directors of the charitable company for 
the purposes of company law) are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements in accordance 
with the applicable framework and for being satisfied 
that they give a true and fair view. The trustees are 
also responsible for such internal control as they 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the trustees 
are responsible for assessing the group’s and parent 
charitable company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the trustees either intend to liquidate 
the group and parent charitable company or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
 

 

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of 
the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a 
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these financial statements. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit 
of the financial statements is located on the Financial 
Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/
auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of 
our auditors’ report.

Use of this report

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared 
for and only for the charity’s members as a body 
in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the 
Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We 
do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume 
responsibility for any other purpose or to any other 
person to whom this report is shown or into whose 

hands it may come save where expressly agreed by 
our prior consent in writing.

OTHER REQUIRED REPORTING
Companies Act 2006 exception reporting

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to 
report to you if, in our opinion:
· we have not received all the information and 
explanations we require for our audit; or
· adequate accounting records have not been kept by 
the parent charitable company or returns adequate for 
our audit have not been received from branches not 
visited by us; or
· certain disclosures of trustees’ remuneration specified 
by law are not made; or
· the parent charitable company financial statements 
are not in agreement with the accounting records and 
returns.
 
 
 
We have no exceptions to report arising from this 
responsibility.

18 December 2020

Emma Murray (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Belfast
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Notes
Restricted

Funds 2020
 £

Unrestricted
Funds 2020

 £

Total
2020

 £

Restricted
Funds 2019

£

Unrestricted Funds 
2019 (as restated)

 £

Total 2019
(as restated)

£
Incoming resources

Incoming resources from donations:
Voluntary income 5 4,061 - 4,061 5,927 - 5,927
Incoming resources from generated 
funds:
Activities for generating funds 6 1,660,335 9,839,112 11,499,447 1,662,212 10,633,058 12,295,270

Investment income 25 39,776 39,801 103 26,779 26,882

1,664,421 9,878,888 11,543,309 1,668,242 10,659,837 12,328,079

Other Incoming Resources
Grants 7 - 103,997 103,997 - - -
Incoming resources from charitable
activities  

7 2,975,098 1,576,056 4,551,154 3,004,884 2,130,319 5,135,203

Total incoming resources 4,639,519 11,558,941 16,198,460 4,673,126 12,790,156 17,463,282

Resources expended 
Expenditure on generating funds:

Expenditure on trading activities 8 1,841,472 8,419,369 10,260,841 1,757,898 7,816,707 9,574,605

Investment management costs 8 - 35,556 35,556 - 26,202 26,202
1,841,472 8,454,925 10,296,397 1,757,898 7,842,909 9,600,807

Expenditure on charitable activities 8 2,447,792 3,781,717 6,229,509 2,763,301 4,312,691 7,075,992

Total resources expended 4,289,264 12,236,642 16,525,906 4,521,199 12,155,600 16,676,799

Net gains/(losses) on investments - (60,465) (60,465) - 1,218 1,218
Net incoming/outgoing resources before 
transfers of goodwill 350,255 (738,166) (387,911) 151,927 635,774 787,701
Taxation 12 - 5,151 5,151 - - -

Transfers 27 (1,340,829) 1,340,829 - (1,185,763) 1,185,763 -

Net movement in funds (990,574) 607,814 (382,760) (1,033,836) 1,821,537 787,701
Reconciliation of funds:
Total funds brought forward (as restated) 27 36,987,476 12,916,461 49,903,937 38,021,312 11,094,924 49,116,236

Total funds carried forward 27 35,996,902 13,524,275 49,521,177 36,987,476 12,916,461 49,903,937

Group statement of financial activities for the year ended 31 March 2020
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Notes 2020
 £

2019 (as restated)
 £

Fixed assets

Intangible assets 14 - -

Tangible assets 15 44,668,941 44,751,474

44,668,941 44,751,474

Current assets
Stocks 17 165,636 223,786

Debtors: Amounts falling due after one year 18 17,231 19,693

Debtors: Amounts falling due within one year 18 2,283,242 1,557,852

Investments 19 5,463,661 5,769,441

Cash at bank and in hand 20 4,390,267 6,441,367

12,320,037 14,012,139

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 21 (5,403,954) (6,854,287)

Net current assets 6,916,083 7,157,852

Total assets less current liabilities 51,585,024 51,909,326

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 22 (2,063,847) (2,005,389)

Net assets 49,521,177 49,903,937

Funds

Restricted funds:

Restricted funds 27 35,996,902 36,987,476

Unrestricted funds:
General reserve 27 4,537,877 2,485,748

Designated funds 27 8,986,398 10,430,713

Total funds 27 49,521,177 49,903,937

 Group balance sheet as at 31 March 2020
The notes on pages 56 to 83 are an integral part of 
these financial statements.

The financial statements on pages 52 to 83 were 
authorised for issue by the board of trustees/
directors and were signed on its behalf by: 

E Porter     
Director 

C Byrnes     
Director 

14 December 2020
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Notes 2020
 £

2019 as restated
 £

Fixed assets

Tangible assets 15 25,520,333 26,613,887

Investments 16 1,958,957 1,958,957

27,479,290 28,572,844

Current assets
Debtors: amounts falling due after one year 18 17,231 19,693

Debtors: amounts falling due within one year 18 4,211,096 3,292,724

Investments 19 1,939,241 2,001,218

Cash at bank and in hand 20 35,626 906,178

6,203,194 6,219,813

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 21 (1,328,105) (1,798,283)

Net current assets 4,875,089 4,421,530

Total assets less current liabilities 32,354,379 32,994,374

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 22 (666,219) -

Net assets 31,688,160 32,994,374

Funds 

Restricted funds:

Restricted funds 27 11,516,730 12,507,304

Unrestricted funds:
General reserves 27 13,160,739 15,071,599

Designated funds 27 7,010,691 5,415,471

Total funds 27 31,688,160 32,994,374

Charity balance sheet as at 31 March 2020
The amount of the loss in the financial statements 
of the charitable company was £1,306,214 (2019: 
£1,426 as restated).

The notes on pages 56 to 83 are an integral part of 
these financial statements.

The financial statements on pages 52 to 83 were 
authorised for issue by the board of trustees/
directors and were signed on its behalf by: 

E Porter     
Director 

C Byrnes     
Director

14 December 2020 
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2020
£

2019 (as restated)
 £

Cash flows from operating activities  
Net (outgoing)/incoming resources for the year (382,760) 787,701
Adjustments for:
Loss on sale of fixed assets 35,146 4,922

Loss/(gain) on investments 60,465 (1,218)
Dividend income (14,876) (109)
Investment income (31,789) (26,882)
Taxation (5,151) -
Depreciation charge 2,355,347 2,283,922
Movement in debtors 281,166 166,070
Movement in creditors (2,116,215) (964,310)
Movement in stock 58,150 (24,430)
Bank interest income 26,445 25,204
Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities 265,928 2,250,870
Cash flows from investment activities  
Payments to acquire of tangible assets (2,307,960) (2,494,095)
Contribution to acquisition of tangible fixed assets 41,158 -
Dividend income 14,876 109
Purchase of investment properties (998,750) -
Net movement in investments 245,315 (667,885)

Net cash used in investing activities (3,005,361) (3,161,871)

Cash flows from financing activities 
Bank loans received 700,000 -
Loan repayments made (11,667) -

Net cash generated/ (used in) from financing activities 688,333 -

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (2,051,100) (911,001)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 6,441,367 7,352,368
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 4,390,267 6,441,367

Change in cash and bank balances for the year (2,051,100) (911,011)

Group statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 March 2020
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Notes to the financial statements for the year 
ended 31 March 2020
1 GENERAL INFORMATION

The Odyssey Trust Company Limited (the “charity”) 
is a private company limited by guarantee and 
incorporated in Northern Ireland. The Registered 
Office is 2 Queen's Quay, Belfast, BT3 9QQ. The 
members of the charity are the directors named on 
page 1. In the event of the charity being wound up, 
the liability in respect of the guarantee is limited to £10 
per member of the charity.

The principal activity of the group is to hold, manage, 
safeguard and develop the investment in the Odyssey 
Project for the benefit of all the people of Northern 
Ireland.  

2 STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

The Group and individual financial statements of The 
Odyssey Trust Company Limited have been prepared 
in compliance with United Kingdom Accounting 
Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 
102, ‘‘Financial Reporting Standard applicable in 
the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) effective 
1 January 2015) - (Charities SORP (FRS 102)), the 
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK 
and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102), the Charities Act 
(Northern Ireland) 2008(13) and the Companies Act 
2006.

3 STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the 
preparation of these consolidated and separate 
financial statements are set out below. These policies 
have been consistently applied to all the years 
presented, unless otherwise stated. 

3.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

These group and charity financial statements 
have been prepared on a going concern basis 
in accordance with the Charities Act (Northern 
Ireland) 2008(13), the Companies Act 2006, the 
Financial reporting Standard applicable in the UK 
and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) and relevant 
sections of the Statement of Recommended Practice 
“Accounting and Reporting by Charities (Revised 
2015)”, applicable to charities preparing their financial 
statements in accordance with the FRS 102.

The Odyssey Trust Company Limited meets the 
definition of a public benefit entity under FRS 102. 
Assets and liabilities are initially recognised at 
historical cost or transaction value unless otherwise 
stated in the relevant accounting policies.

The preparation of financial statements requires the 
use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also 
requires management to exercise its judgement in the 
process of applying the group and charity accounting 
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of 
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions 
and estimates are significant to the financial 
statements, are disclosed in note 4.

The financial statements are presented in Sterling 
(£) with all values rounded to the nearest £1 except 
where otherwise indicated.

The company has taken advantage of the exemption 
in section 408 of the Companies Act from presenting 
its individual profit and loss account.

3.2 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The group consolidated financial statements include 
the financial statements of the Charitable Company 
and all of its subsidiary undertakings made up to 31 
March 2020.

A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the group. 
Control is the power to govern the financial and 
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits 
from its activities. Where the group owns less than 
50% of the voting powers of an entity but controls the 
entity by virtue of an agreement with other investors 
which give it control of the financial and operating 
policies of the entity it accounts for that entity as a 
subsidiary.
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Where a subsidiary has different accounting 
policies to the group, adjustments are made to 
those subsidiary financial statements to apply 
the group’s accounting policies when preparing 
the consolidated financial statements.

Any subsidiary undertakings or associates sold 
or acquired during the year are included up to, or 
from, the dates of change of control or change of 
significant influence respectively.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income 
and expenses are eliminated on consolidation. 
Adjustments are made to eliminate the surplus/
deficit arising on transactions with associates to 
the extent of the group’s interest in the entity.

3.3 GOING CONCERN

Just prior to the year end Covid-19 was declared 
a global pandemic and to help prevent the 
spread of coronavirus and acting in line with 
government guidance the Charity closed all 
operating businesses, SSE Arena, W5 and the 
car park in mid-March 2020. The Charity has 
undertaken a number of measures to mitigate 
the financial impact of Covid-19 including:

● curtailed operating expenditure 
● postponed planned capital expenditure 
● utilised the Coronavirus Job Retention 
Scheme 
● deferred VAT payment as allowed under the 
government support measures 

● obtained business rates relief 
● secured a Coronavirus Business Interruption 
Loan which the trustees are committed to 
drawing down in line with the required terms and 
conditions
● received funding under the Covid-19 Charity 
Fund 

The Trustees have reviewed a number of 
potential financial scenarios on how the 
pandemic may continue to impact on the 
potential timing around the re-opening of the 
trading operations taking into account worst 
case options. The scenarios are based on the 
reopening of the trading businesses in either 
April 2021, September 2021 or April 2022. The 
use of the going concern basis of accounting 
is appropriate for a 12 month period from the 
date of approving the financial statements as 
the Trustees are satisfied with the cash flow 
forecasts demonstrate that there is access to 
sufficient liquidity through the use of unrestricted 
reserves and the Coronavirus Business 
Interruption Loan to enable the Group or Charity 
to continue as a going concern.

The Odyssey Trust Company Limited     Company Number: NI033106   Charity Commission NI number: 100113
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3.4 GOODWILL

Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the 
excess of the fair value of the consideration given 
over the fair values of the identifiable net assets 
acquired. Negative goodwill arising on acquisitions is 
capitalised as an intangible asset and is written back 
to the Statement of Financial Activities in accordance 
with the depreciation policies of the assets which 
when fair valued resulted in the negative goodwill. 

3.5 TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

Freehold and long leasehold buildings are stated at 
cost. Other tangible fixed assets are stated at their 
purchase cost, together with any incidental expenses 
of acquisition.

Assets under construction

Assets under construction are stated at cost. They 
will be reclassified and depreciated when the related 
assets are made available for use.

Depreciation is calculated so as to write off the cost 
of tangible fixed assets, less their estimated residual 
values, on a straight-line basis over the expected 
useful economic lives of the assets concerned. The 
principal annual rates used are as follows:

Land    – nil
Long leasehold buildings – 2% of cost
Plant and machinery  – 5% - 25% of  
     cost
Fixtures and fittings  – 5% - 25% of  
     cost

Exhibits    – 25% of cost
Motor Vehicles   – 25% of cost
Car parks   – 12.5% -  
     25% of cost

No depreciation is charged until the asset is brought 
into use. Land is not depreciated.

The carrying values of tangible fixed assets are 
reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be 
recoverable.

3.6 FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS

Fixed asset investments are stated at historical cost 
less impairment.

3.7 CURRENT ASSET INVESTMENTS

Investments in listed company shares, which have 
been classified as current asset investments, are 
remeasured to market value at each balance sheet 
date. Gains and losses on remeasurement are 
recognised in profit or loss for the period.

3.8 STOCKS

Stocks are valued at the lower of cost and estimated 
net realisable value. Stocks are recognized as an 
expense in the period in which the related revenue is 
recognized.

At the end of each reporting period stocks are 
assessed for impairment. If an item of stock is 
impaired, the identified stock is reduced to its 
selling price less costs to complete and sell and an 

impairment charge is recognized in the statement 
of financial activities. Where a reversal of the 
impairment is recognized the impairment charge is 
reversed, up to the original impairment loss, and is 
recognized as a credit in the statement of financial 
activities.

3.9 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand 
and deposits held at call with banks, other short-
term highly liquid investments with original maturities 
of 3 months or less. Current asset investments 
are deposits held with banks with maturities of 12 
months or less and deposits which is not readily 
convertible into cash.

3.10 GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are recognised when it is 
reasonable to expect that the grants will be received 
and that all related conditions will be met, usually on 
submission of a valid claim for payment.

Government grants in respect of capital expenditure 
are credited to a deferred income account and are 
released to profit over the expected useful lives of 
the relevant assets by equal annual instalments.

Grants of a revenue nature are credited to income so 
as to match them with the expenditure to which they 
relate.
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3.11 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The company has chosen to adopt Sections 11 and 
12 of FRS 102 in respect of financial instruments.

Financial assets
Basic financial assets, including trade and other 
debtors and cash and bank balances are initially 
recognised at transaction price, unless the 
arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, 
where the transaction is measured at present value 
of the future receipts discounted at a market rate of 
interest.

Such assets are subsequently carried at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method.

At the end of each reporting period financial 
assets measured at amortised cost are assessed 
for objective evidence of impairment. If an asset 
is impaired the impairment loss is the difference 
between the carrying amount and the present value 
of the estimated cash flows discounted at the asset’s 
original effective interest rate. The impairment loss is 
recognised in the statement of financial activities. 

If there is decrease in the impairment loss arising 
from an event occurring after the impairment was 
recognised, the impairment is reversed. The reversal 
is such that the current carrying amount does not 
exceed what the carrying amount would have been 
had the impairment not previously been recognised. 
The impairment reversal is recognised in the 
statement of financial activities. 

Financial assets are derecognised when (a) the 
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire or are settled, or (b) substantially all the 

risks and rewards of the ownership of the asset are 
transferred to another party or (c) despite having 
retained some significant risks and rewards of 
ownership, control of the asset has been transferred 
to another party who has the practical ability to 
unilaterally sell the asset to an unrelated third party 
without imposing additional restrictions.

Financial liabilities
Basic financial liabilities, including trade and other 
payables are initially recognised at transaction price, 
unless the arrangement constitutes a financing 
transaction, where the debt instrument is measured 
at the present value of the future payments 
discounted at a market rate of interest.

Debt instruments are subsequently carried at 
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate 
method.

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or 
services that have been received in the ordinary 
course of business from suppliers. Trade payables 
are classified into amounts falling due within one 
year if payment is due within one year or less. If not, 
they are presented as amounts falling due after one 
year. 

Trade payables are recognised initially at transaction 
price and subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the 
liability is extinguished, that is when the contractual 
obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires. 
 

3.12 LEASING COMMITMENTS

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged 
in the statement of comprehensive income on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term.

3.13 FUND ACCOUNTING

The organisation has various types of funds for 
which it is responsible and which require separate 
disclosure. A definition of the various types of funds 
is as follows:

Restricted funds
Restricted funds are to be used for specified 
purposes as laid down by each donor. Expenditure 
which meets these criteria is identified to the 
fund, together with a fair allocation of overheads 
and support costs. The aim and use of each 
restricted fund is set out in the notes to the financial 
statements.

Unrestricted funds
General funds are unrestricted funds received 
or generated and which are expendable at the 
discretion of the Directors in furtherance of the 
objectives of the Charity and which have not been 
designated for other purposes. Designated funds 
comprise unrestricted funds that have been set aside 
by the Directors for particular purposes. The aim and 
use of each designated fund is set out in the notes to 
the financial statements.
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3.14 INCOMING RESOURCES

Voluntary income relates to donated consumables 
received by W5 which were valued at market value.  
The total income equivalent of the gift has been 
recognised within incoming resources as a gift in 
kind and the equivalent charge has been included 
within office expenses.

Activities for generating funds relates to trading 
incomes of the subsidiary companies of the group 
who gift aid all taxable profits to the Charity through 
a covenanted payment and recognised in the 
statement of financial activities.

Investment income relates to bank interest received 
on cash deposits held by the group.

Income from charitable activities includes income 
received from SSE Arena rental.  Charitable income 
from W5 relates substantially to admissions, 
education and funded programmes.

Trading income represents the invoiced value of 
goods supplied during the year excluding value 
added tax. Revenue is recognised upon provision of 
the service to the customer.

3.15 RESOURCES EXPENDED

Resources expended are accounted for on an 
accruals basis and are included in the Statement of 
Financial Activities for the period to which they relate.

Expenditure on generating funds are those costs 
included in commercial trading activities of the 
subsidiary that raise funds.

Charitable activities include expenditure associated 
with the projects undertaken by the Charity in the 
furtherance of its charitable objectives, and include 
both direct costs and support costs relating to these 
activities.

Governance costs include those incurred in 
the governance of the Charity and are primarily 
associated with constitutional, statutory and strategic 
matters.

Support costs include staff costs and certain central 
overheads. These have been allocated between 
these categories on a basis that is consistent with 
the use of the resource, such as time allocation, floor 
space or percentage usage.

3.16 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

The company provides a range of benefits to 
employees, including paid holiday arrangements and 
defined contribution pension plans.  
 

i. Short term benefits 

Short term benefits, including holiday pay and other 
similar non-monetary benefits, are recognised as 
an expense in the period in which the service is 
received.

ii. Defined contribution pension plans 

The company operates a defined contribution plan 
for its employees. A defined contribution plan is 
a pension plan under which the company pays 
fixed contributions into a separate entity. Once the 
contributions have been paid the company has 
no further payment obligations. The contributions 
are recognised as an expense when they are due. 
Amounts not paid are shown in accruals in the 
balance sheet. The assets of the plan are held 
separately from the company in independently 
administered funds. 

3.17 RECOGNITION OF LIABILITIES

Liabilities are recognised as soon as there is a legal 
or constructive obligation committing the Charity to 
pay out resources.
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Restricted
Funds 2020

£

Unrestricted
Funds 2020

£

Total
2020

£

Restricted
Funds 2019

£

Unrestricted
Funds 2019

£

Total
2019

£

Gifts in kind:

Donated services 4,061 - 4,061 5,927 - 5,927

5 VOLUNTARY INCOME

4 CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

All voluntary income relates to W5.

W5 received donated consumables valued at £4,061 (2019: £5,927) being the market value. The total income equivalent of the gift has been recognised within incoming 
resources as a gift in kind and the equivalent charge has been included within resources expended as office expenses.

Restricted
Funds 2020

£

Unrestricted
Funds 2020

£

Total
2020

£

Restricted Funds 
2019

£

Unrestricted Funds 
2019

£

Total
2019

£

Odyssey Ice Academy - 45,306 45,306 - 60,716 60,716

Sport NI Funding 30,000 - 30,000 30,000 - 30,000

Champions league and Friendship four 188,441 - 188,441 220,883 - 220,883

Arena - 8,614,961 8,614,961 - 9,286,580 9,286,580

W5 791,550 - 791,550 857,252 - 857,252

Estates income 650,344 1,178,845 1,829,189 554,077 1,285,762 1,839,839

1,660,335 9,839,112 11,499,447 1,662,212 10,633,058 12,295,270

 

6 ACTIVITIES FOR GENERATING FUNDS

The above reflect trading incomes of the subsidiary companies of the group which gift aid up all taxable profits to the Charity.

Critical judgements in applying the Group and charitable company’s accounting policies
There are no critical judgements in applying the Group and charitable company’s policies.

Key management estimates and assumptions
There are no key accounting estimates and assumptions in applying the Group and charitable company’s accounting policies.

61



The Odyssey Trust Company Limited     Company Number: NI033106   Charity Commission NI number: 100113

Restricted
Funds 2020

£

Unrestricted
Funds 2020

 £

Total
2020

 £

Restricted Funds 
2019

 £

Unrestricted
Funds 2019

 £

Total Funds
2019

 £

Grants - 103,997 103,997 - - -

Incoming resources from charitable
activities

- Arena - 1,576,056 1,576,056 - 2,130,319 2,130,319

- W5 2,975,098 - 2,975,098 3,004,884 - 3,004,884

2,975,098 1,680,053 4,655,151 3,004,884 2,130,319 5,135,203

7 OTHER INCOMING RESOURCES

Incoming resources from charitable activities represents the charitable income of the group. The Arena charitable income relates to rental income.
The W5 charitable income substantially relates to admissions, education and funded projects.

Grant income represents income received by the group in relation to the government furlough scheme due to the impact of operating closures as a result of Covid-19.
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8 RESOURCES EXPENDED

Trading
activities

£

Investment
management

costs £

Charitable 
activities

£ Governance
£

Total 2020
£

Trading
activities (as 

restated)
£

Investment
management

costs £

Charitable
activities

£
Governance

£
Total 2019 

(as restated)
£

Costs directly allocated to activities 

Cost of sales 1,330,333 - 85,796 - 1,416,129 1,554,700 - 86,198 - 1,640,898

Employee costs 4,067,676 35,556 1,387,575 75,473 5,566,280 3,262,938 26,202 1,426,401 55,617 4,771,158

Marketing 90,300 - 192,116 - 282,416 64,292 - 223,484 - 287,776

Arena event costs 86,678 - 1,462,115 - 1,548,793 1,754,191 - 2,014,810 - 3,769,001

Legal and consultancy 1,635 - 17,949 436,627 456,211 (8,191) - 17,605 205,265 214,679

Odyssey Ice Academy - - 29,736 - 29,736 - - 38,974 - 38,974

Establishment costs 3,884,019 - 267,075 518 4,151,612 2,318,367 - 724,262 516 3,043,145

Training 42,138 - 1,375 - 43,513 12,058 - 3,980 - 16,038

Repairs and maintenance 165,624 - 8,090 - 173,714 25,134 - 169 - 25,303

Travel and subsistence 28,474 - 442 - 28,916 33,209 - 718 - 33,927

Miscellaneous 30,022 - 54,201 - 84,223 20,665 - 18,046 - 38,711

Office expenses (W5) 15,968 - 126,084 - 142,052 19,133 - 196,144 - 215,277

Depreciation (W5) - - 399,085 - 399,085 361 - 200,020 - 200,381

Support costs allocated to activities 

Office expenses 104,326 - 35,713 11,440 151,479 82,053 - 55,845 22,282 160,180

Depreciation 389,850 - 1,566,413 - 1,956,263 389,850 - 1,693,676 - 2,083,526

Bank charges and interest payable 4,097 - 10,379 - 14,476 7,351 - 14,618 - 21,969

Employee costs 19,701 - 11,599 49,708 81,008 38,494 - 18,747 58,615 115,856

Total resources expended 10,260,841 35,556 5,655,743 573,766 16,525,906 9,574,605 26,202 6,733,697 342,295 16,676,799
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2020
£

2019
£

Depreciation 2,355,347 2,283,922

Auditors remuneration      - audit 49,155 43,267

                                        - other services 24,977 19,864

Staff costs (note 11) 5,647,288 4,887,012

Operating leases - office equipment 10,658 13,975

Operating lease rentals - buildings 17,949 17,605

Loss on the sale of tangible fixed assets 35,146 4,922

Impairment of inventory 25,490 4,598

Impairment of trade debtors 86,631 36,850

Stock recognised as an expense 2,286,819 2,488,292

9 NET INCOMING/(OUTGOING) RESOURCES

Net incoming/ (outgoing) resources are stated after charging:

10 TRUSTEES’/DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

No remuneration was paid to the Trustees/Directors during the year.
Expenses reimbursed to Trustees/Directors for their travel costs amounted to £945 (2019: £718).

Group 2020
£

2019
£

Wages and salaries 4,792,122 4,138,177

Social security costs 407,670 366,263

Other pension costs 447,496 382,572

5,647,288 4,887,012

11 STAFF COSTS

  Company Number: NI033106   Charity Commission NI number: 100113The Odyssey Trust Company Limited   
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Group 2020
Number

2019
Number

Monthly paid 163 155

The average monthly number of employees (including directors/Trustees)
during the year was made up as follows:

Group 2020
Number

2019
Number

Giants 31 34
Arena 27 36

W5 54 58

Estates 10 7
Administration 41 20

163 155

Group 2020
Number

2019
Number

£60,001 - £70,000 2 2

£70,001 - £80,000 2 1

£80,001 - £90,000 1 -

£90,001 - £100,000 - 1

£100,001 - £110,000 - -

£110,001 - £120,000 - -

£120,001 - £130,000 - -

£130,000 - £140,000 - -

£140,000 - £150,000 1 1

Pension contributions of £108,453 (2019 - £100,399) were paid to personal pension plans by the Group 
in respect of employees whose remuneration amounted to over £60,000 in the year.

There are no employees whose remuneration amounted to over £60,000 in the year employed within 
the charity. The number of employees whose remuneration amounted to over £60,000 in the year and 
employed within the subsidiary OML Belfast Limited was as follows:

11 STAFF COSTS (CONTINUED)
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KEY MANAGEMENT 

The group consider key management personnel to 
include senior employees and directors of its wholly 
owned subsidiaries whowhatwherewhenwhy and 
OML Belfast Limited.

The employee benefits of key management 
personnel of whowhatwherewhenwhy total £136,725 
(2019: £227,112).

The employee benefits of key management 
personnel including directors of OML Belfast Limited 
total £893,205 (2019: £683,965). 

The employee benefits of key management 
personnel including directors for the group were 
£1,029,930 (2019: £1,024,496).

The company had no employees other than its 
directors (2019: none).

 

12 TAX

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
13 LOSS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR

The parent undertaking has not presented its own 
profit and loss account as permitted by section 408 
of the Companies Act 2006. The amount of the loss 
in the financial statements of the parent undertaking 
was £1,306,214 (2019: £1,426 as restated).

 

Group Negative
goodwill £

Cost

At 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020 (1,340,010)

Amortisation

At 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020 1,340,010

Net book value

At 31 March 2020                      -
At 31 March 2019                       -

14 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Negative goodwill arose on the acquisition of 
WhoWhatWhereWhenWhy. 

The tax credit is made up 
as follows:

2020
£

2019
£

Total tax credit (5,151) -

Deferred taxation provided in the 
financial statements and the amounts 
not provided are as follows: £ 

At 1 April 2019 -

Credit for the year 5,151

At 31 March 2020 5,151

The corporation tax rate in the UK reduced from 
21% to 20% with effect from 1 April 2015, and will be 
further reduced to 17% on 1 April 2020.  The 17% 
statutory rate of corporation tax was substantively 
enacted on 6 September 2016 and this is the rate at 
which deferred tax has been provided. 

(a) Tax on loss on ordinary activities

(c) Deferred Tax

(b) Factors that may affect future tax charges

  Company Number: NI033106   Charity Commission NI number: 100113The Odyssey Trust Company Limited   
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14 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 15 TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

Group Land
£

Long leasehold
buildings

£

Plant and
machinery

£

Fixtures and 
fittings

£
Exhibits

£

Assets in 
construction

£

Motor
vehicles

£

Car
parks

£
Total 

£
Cost

At 1 April 2019 4,373,792 53,656,210 13,095,244 28,883,355 5,218,680 - 21,920 1,082,948 106,332,149

Additions - 3,005 18,804 434,690 133,816 1,716,645 - 1,000 2,307,960

Disposals - - (1,098,085) (3,304,920) (2,762,683) - - - (7,165,688)

At 31 March 2020 4,373,792 53,659,215 12,015,963 26,013,125 2,589,813 1,716,645 21,920 1,083,948 101,474,421

Depreciation

At 1 April 2019 - 18,718,126 13,028,855 25,375,430 3,993,480 - 21,920 442,864 61,580,675

Charge for the year - 1,076,452 19,371 891,659 367,865 - - - 2,355,347

Disposals - - (1,098,085) (3,304,844) (2,727,613) - - - (7,130,542)

At 31 March 2020 - 19,794,578 11,950,141 22,962,245 1,633,732 - 21,920 442,864 56,805,480

Net book value

At 31 March 2020 4,373,792 33,864,637 65,822 3,050,880 956,081 1,716,645 - 641,084 44,668,941

At 31 March 2019 4,373,792 34,938,084 66,389 3,507,925 1,225,200 - - 640,084 44,751,474
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In 2002 the Company entered into an agreement in which part of the property was sold and then leased back over 15 years. On 16 January 2012, a further sub-under 
lease was granted to the Company thereby increasing the interest of the Company in the property.

Company Land
£

Long leasehold
buildings

£

Plant and
machinery

£

Fixtures
and fittings

£
Car Parks

£
Total 

£
Cost

At 1 April 2019 2,002,796 32,344,939 8,675,706 28,288,190 1,082,948 72,394,579

Additions - - - 363,666 1,000 364,666

Disposals - - (1,083,260) (3,167,847) - (4,251,107)

At 31 March 2020 2,002,796 32,344,939 7,592,446 25,484,009 1,083,948 68,508,138

Depreciation

At 1 April 2019 - 11,612,028 8,675,706 25,049,794 443,164 45,780,692

Charge for the year - 646,347 - 811,781 - 1,458,128

Disposals - - (1,083,260) (3,167,755) - (4,251,015)

At 31 March 2020 - 12,258,375 7,592,446 22,693,820 443,164 42,987,805

Net book value

At 31 March 2020 2,002,796 20,086,564 - 2,790,189 640,784 25,520,333

At 31 March 2019 2,002,796 20,732,911 - 3,238,396 639,784 26,613,887

15 TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS (CONTINUED)

2020
Group

£

2019
Group

£

2020
Company

£

2019
 Company

£

Long leaseholds 32,049,180 33,083,016 19,963,748 20,607,733
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Company Subsidiary Companies 
£

Cost
At 1 April 2019 76,933,370

At 31 March 2020 76,933,370

Amounts written off:

At 1 April 2019 74,974,413

Write off in the year -

At 31 March 2020 74,974,413

Net book value

At 31 March 2020 1,958,957

At 31 March 2019 1,958,957

16 INVESTMENTS

Name of company
Nature of
Business

Country of 
Incorporation

or registration

Proportion of Ordinary shares
held by company

Odyssey Construction Company Ltd* Dormant Northern Ireland 100%

OML Belfast Limited* Estate Management/
trading activities Northern Ireland 100%

Odyssey Property Company1 Property Great Britain 100%

WhoWhatWhereWhenWhy^* Science Centre Northern Ireland 100%

WhoWhatWhereWhenWhyonline Ltd* Retail Northern Ireland 100%

Silverstream Enterprises Limited* Dormant Northern Ireland 100%

The above companies operated principally in Northern Ireland. The companies investment in 
whowhatwherewhenwhy Ltd indirect ownership, all other investments are direct ownership.

^ A company limited by guarantee with charitable status (registered charity number XR38795).  The 
company is registered with the Charity Commission for Northern Ireland (charity number NIC100112).

* The registered address of these subsidiary undertakings is 2 Queens Quay, Belfast, BT3 9QQ.

1 The registered address of this subsidiary undertaking is Collingham House, 6-12 Gladstone road, 
Wimbledon, London, England.
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Group Company

2020
£

2019
£

2020
£

2019
£

Goods for resale 165,636 223,786 - -

17 STOCKS

The difference between the value of goods for resale and their replacement cost is not material. Stock is stated after provisions for impairment of £25,490 (2019: £4,598).

18 DEBTORS

Group Company

2020
£

2019
£

2020
£

2019
(as restated)

£

Amounts falling due within one year:

Trade debtors 364,253 265,390 70,990 -

Amounts owed by group undertakings - - 3,089,623 3,231,024

Other tax and social security - - 32,735 8,163

Deferred tax 5,151 - - -
Other debtors 417,722 451,069 - -

Prepayments and accrued income 1,496,116 841,393 1,017,748 53,537

2,283,242 1,557,852 4,211,096 3,292,724

Amounts falling due after more than one year:

Prepayments 17,231 19,693 17,231 19,693

Total debtors 2,300,473 1,577,545 4,228,327 3,312,417

Amounts owed by group undertakings are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.
Trade debtors is stated after provisions for impairment of £86,631 (2019: £36,850).
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19 CURRENT ASSET INVESTMENTS

Group Company

2020
£

2019
£

2020
£

2019
£

Short term deposits 5,025,014 4,567,652 1,500,594 1,500,000

Rent deposit - 700,571 - -

Securities 418,403 232,001 418,403 232,001

Cash 20,244 269,217 20,244 269,217

5,463,661 5,769,441 1,939,241 2,001,218

Investments in short term deposits have an original maturity date of 12 months or less.
The rent deposit is in relation to cash at bank held as security, with financial restrictions attached, and therefore cannot be used by the group for trading purposes.

The securities are managed and held on behalf of the Charity by Smith & Williamson Investment Management LLP. The securities are carried at market value as at the 
balance sheet date.

20 CASH AT BANK AND IN HAND

Group Company

2020
£

2019
£

2020
£

2019
£

Restricted – OPC 350,000 - - -

Restricted for use - Arena 1,795,815 2,822,978 - -

Restricted for use - W5 828,266 750,271 - -

Restricted - Estate Management 306,980 405,210 - -

Restricted – 1BEET 2,103 - 2,103 -

Unrestricted funds to meet ongoing needs of the Charity 1,107,103 2,462,908 33,523 906,178

4,390,267 6,441,367 35,626 906,178

The balances are analysed as follows:
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21 CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR

Group Company

2020
£

2019
(as restated)

£

2020
£

2019
(as restated)

£
Bank Loans (note 22) 22,114 - 22,114 -
Trade creditors 1,045,673 1,689,156 148,553 42,467
Amounts owed to group undertakings - - 1,004,272 1,722,985

Other tax and social security 273,835 221,759 - -

Other creditors 645,320 983,414 - -
Accruals 652,319 1,087,566 112,008 32,831
Income in advance (car park contribution) 41,158 - 41,158 -

Deferred income 2,723,535 2,872,392 - -

5,403,954 6,854,287 1,328,105 1,798,283

Amounts owed to group undertakings are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

22 CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE AFTER MORE THAN ONE YEAR

Group Company

2020
£

2019
£

2020
£

2019
£

Bank loans 666,219 - 666,219 -

Deferred income 141,667 - - -
Other creditors 1,255,961 2,005,389 - -

2,063,847 2,005,389 666,219 -

The group entered into a commercial contract to benefit the future profitability and cash flows of part of the business. Under FRS 102, Section 21 Provisions & 
Contingencies, the present value of the future payments is accrued at the inception of the contract, while the potential future benefits will accrue over the next 6 years. The 
liability will be repaid over the next 6 years.
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Group Company

2020
£

2019
£

2020
£

2019
£

Amounts falling due within one year 22,114 - 22,114 -

Amounts falling due 1-2 years 22,537 - 22,537 -
Amounts falling due 2-5 years 643,682 - 643,682 -

688,333 - 688,333 -

Analysis of the maturity of bank loans is given below

The company entered into a loan agreement during the year for the purpose of capital investment. The term of the loan was for 5 years. Subsequent to the year-end the 
company made the decision not to continue with the capital investment and has subsequently repaid the loan. The loan has been presented as at 31 March 2020, over 
the legal terms of the initial agreement. As at the date that these financial statements have been approved by the Trustees, the full amount has been repaid. The loan was 
secured on the apartment properties with a loan covenant that the amount outstanding was not to exceed 70% of the property value.

23 PENSIONS

The group and charity operates a defined contribution scheme in respect of eligible employees. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the group and 
charity in independently administered funds. Unpaid contributions outstanding at 31 March 2020 amounted to £31,895 (2019 - £23,443).

Group Company

2020
£

2019
£

2020
£

2019
£

Contributions payable by the charity for the year 447,496 382,572 - -

22 CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE AFTER MORE THAN ONE YEAR (CONTINUED)
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Group 2020
£

2019
£

Operating leases which expire:

Within one year 23,110 23,011

In two to five years 76,226 79,367

Over five years 30,366 47,283

129,702 149,661

24 OTHER FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS
Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Charity 2020
£

2019
£

Operating leases which expire:

Within one year 15,700 15,417

In two to five years 65,797 64,580

Over five years 30,366 47,283

111,863 127,280
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Group 2020
£

2019
(as restated)

£

Financial assets

Cash at bank and in hand 4,390,267 6,441,367

Investments 5,463,661 5,769,441

Trade debtors 364,253 265,390

Other debtors 417,722 451,069

Accrued income 35,097 861,086

Financial assets held at amortised cost 10,671,000 13,788,353

Financial liabilities

Bank Loans 688,333 -

Trade creditors 1,045,673 1,689,156

Other creditors 1,901,281 2,988,803

Accruals 652,319 1,087,566

Financial liabilities held at amortised cost 4,287,606 5,765,525

25 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
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Company 2020
£

2019
(as restated)

£

Financial assets

Cash 35,626 906,178

Investments 1,500,594 1,500,000

Trade debtors 70,990 -

Amounts owed by group undertakings 3,089,623 3,231,024

Accrued income 8,847 13,537

4,705,680 5,650,739

Financial liabilities

Bank Loans 688,333 -

Trade creditors 148,553 42,467

Amounts owed to group undertakings 1,004,272 1,722,985

Accruals 112,009 32,831

1,953,167 1,798,283

25 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
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Group Restricted Funds
£

Unrestricted Funds 
£

Total
£

Tangible fixed assets 35,953,641 8,715,300 44,668,941

Net current assets 43,261 6,391,060 6,434,321

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year - (1,582,085) (1,582,085)

35,996,902 13,524,275 49,521,177

26 ANALYSIS OF NET ASSETS BETWEEN FUNDS
Balances at 31 March 2020 are funded by:

Group Restricted Funds
£

Unrestricted Funds 
(as restated)

£

Total
(as restated) 

£
Tangible fixed assets 38,650,422 6,101,052 44,751,474

Net current (liabilities)/assets (1,662,946) 8,820,798 7,157,852

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year - (2,005,389) (2,005,389)

36,987,476 12,916,461 49,903,937

Balances at 31 March 2019 are funded by:

Charity Restricted Funds
£

Unrestricted Funds 
£

Total 
£

Tangible fixed assets 25,520,333 - 25,520,333

Net current (liabilities)/assets (14,003,603) 20,837,649 6,834,046

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year - (666,219) (666,219)

11,516,730 20,171,430 31,688,160

Charity Restricted Funds
£

Unrestricted Funds
(as restated) 

£

Total
(as restated) 

£
Tangible fixed assets 26,613,887 - 26,613,887
Net current (liabilities)/assets (14,106,583) 20,487,070 6,380,487

12,507,304 20,487,070 32,994,374

Balances at 31 March 2020 are funded by:

Balances at 31 March 2019 are funded by:
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27 STATEMENT OF FUNDS

Unrestricted funds Restricted funds

Group

General
reserves

£

Designated
funds

(as restated)
£

Total
 unrestricted

funds
(as restated)

£

Construction
fund

£

Friend-
ship Four 

fund
£

Champions 
League

fund
£

W5
fund 

£

Car park
contribu-

tion 
£

1BEET
£

Estate
manage-

ment
fund

Total
restricted

funds 
£

Total
funds

(as restated) 
£

At 1 April 2019
(as restated)

2,485,748 10,430,713 12,916,461 36,987,476 - - - - - - 36,987,476 49,903,937

Income 11,558,941 - 11,558,941 - 164,056 54,385 3,727,473 41,158 2,103 650,344 4,639,519 16,198,460

Expenditures (10,792,327)) (1,444,315) (12,236,642) (1,033,835) (164,056) (54,385) (2,386,644) - - (650,344) (4,289,264) (16,525,906)

Net losses on 
investment

(60,465) - (60,465) - - - - - - - - (60,465)

Taxation 5,151 5,151 - - - - - - - - 5,151

Transfers 1,340,829 - 1,340,829 - - - (1,340,829) - - - (1,340,829) -
At 31 March 2020 4,537,877 8,986,398 13,524,275 35,953,641 - - - 41,158 2,103 - 35,996,902 49,521,177

Unrestricted funds Restricted funds

Charity General
reserves £

Designated
funds

(as restated)
 £

Total
 unrestricted

funds (as restated)
 £

Construction
fund £

Car park
contribution

£
1BEET

£

Total
restricted funds

 £
Total fund

(as restated)
£

At 1 April 2019
(as restated)

15,071,599 5,415,471 20,487,070 12,507,304 - - 12,507,304 32,994,374

Income 3,119,947 1,514,985 4,634,932 - 41,158 2,103 43,261 4,678,193

Expenditures (4,970,342) 80,235 (4,890,107) (1,033,835) - - (1,033,835) (5,923,942)

Net Losses on
investment

(60,465) - (60,465) - (60,465)

Transfers - - - - - - - -

At 31 March 2020 13,160,739 7,010,691 20,171,430 11,473,469 41,158 2,103 11,516,730 31,688,160
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Group Company

2020
£

2019
£

2020
£

2019
£

As at 31 March 477,953 1,845,800 - -

28 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
Amounts contracted for but not provided in the financial statements amounted:

27 STATEMENT OF 
FUNDS
(CONTINUED)

The General reserve represents 
the funds of the Charity, which 
are not designated for particular 
purposes.

The Designated fund has 
been set up by the Directors 
to meet the requirement of the 
funders, to establish a reserve 
necessary to meet future funding 
obligations of the organisation 
and to sustain the project’s 
viability in the longer term.

The Construction fund 
represents money received from 
the funders relating to the initial 
capital cost from construction of 
the project less depreciation.

The W5 fund represents the 
income and expenditure for W5, 
the wholly owned subsidiary 
of the charity, which also has 
charitable status.

The Friendship Four fund 
represents money received 
from funders less expenditure 
incurred to enable the hosting of 

the Friendship Four ice hockey 
tournament.

The Champions League fund 
represents money received 
from funders less expenditure 
incurred to enable the hosting of 
the Champions hockey league.

The Estate Management fund 
is for the purpose of providing 
services for the entire Odyssey 
site, which are recharged to the 
tenants. These services include 
security, maintenance, cleaning, 
electricity and insurance.

The Car Park Contribution 
fund is money received 
from Matagorda Limited for 
the designated purpose of 
purchasing equipment for the car 
park.

The 1BEET fund is money 
raised by The Odyssey Trust 
Company Limited staff through 
social functions. The money 
raised through these functions is 
designated for donation to one of 
the groups nominated charities, 
The Kevin Bell Repatriation 
Trust. 

2020
£

2019
(as restated)

£
Net operating profit (loss)/Profit (343,416) 841,613

(Loss)/ Operating profit (343,416) 841,613

Interest payable (69,420) (80,794)

Interest receivable 24,925 26,882
(Loss)/ Profit
before taxation (387,911) 787,701

Taxation 5,151 -

Retained (loss)/profit for the year after tax (382,760) 787,701

29 GROUP INCOME AND EXPENDITURE SUMMARY

The above reflects the Trust's Income and Expenditure account as required 
by the Companies Act 2006 as opposed to that required under the relevant 
sections of the Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of 
Recommended Practice (SORP) applicable to charities preparing their 
financial statements in accordance with the FRS 102 (Charities SORP (FRS 
102)).
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Company 2020
£

2019
£

Grant funding

Expenditure 30,000 30,000

Travel (30,000) (30,000)

-

Nature of
transaction

Amount of
transaction 2020

£

Amount of
transaction 2019

£

Amount owed from/(to) 
related party 2020

£

Amount owed from/(to) 
related party 2019

£

OML Belfast Limited Income
Expenditure

2,499,500
(1,045,880)

3,293,776
(401,610)

2,394,855
(945,314)

3,638,311
(2,454,434)

Odyssey Property Company
Limited

Income
Expenditure -- -

-
18,372

-
69,374

-

Whowhatwhenwherewhy Limited Income
Expenditure

1,132,011
-

965,521
-

676,396
(58,958)

(301,255) 
46,468

Whowhatwhenwherewhy Online 
Limited

Income
Expenditure

-
(444)

-
(320)

-
-

-
-

30 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Company
The company has identified the following transactions with its wholly owned subsidiaires, which 
must be disclosed under the terms of FRS 102 Section 33, “Related Party Disclosures”

31 FRIENDSHIP FOUR/
HOCKEY FRIENDS 
PROGRAMMES

The Friendship Four event received 
grant funding from the following body:

Sport NI Exchequer Funding  
£30,000

The related expenditure of Sport NI 
Exchequer Funding was used entirely 
for travel expenses.
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32 PRIOR PERIOD RESTATEMENT
Restatement

Costs accrued in relation to an onerous contract within Odyssey Millennium Belfast Limited a trading subsidiary and the Charity were recorded 
incorrectly in cost of sales and accrued for in the balance sheet at the year end. A prior period adjustment has been made to correct the postings. At the 
same time the covenanted subscription receivable by the charity was understated by the amount accrued within Odyssey Millennium Belfast Limited.

The following transactions and balances have been restated in the comparative financial statements:

Unrestricted funds Total funds

As reported
£

Restatement
£

As restated
£

As reported
£

Restatement
£

As restated
£

Group Statement of Financial Activities

Expenditure on trading activities 8,205,668 (388,961) 7,816,707 9,963,566 (388,961) 9,574,605

Expenditure on generating funds (sub- total) 8,231,870 (388,961) 7,842,909 9,989,768 (388,961) 9,600,807

Total resources expended 12,544,561 (388,961) 12,155,600 17,065,760 (388,961) 16,676,799

Net incoming resources 246,813 388,961 635,774 398,740 388,961 787,701

Net movement in funds 246,813 388,961 635,774 398,740 388,961 787,701

Total funds brought forward 10,705,968 388,956 11,094,924 48,727,280 388,956 49,116,236

Total funds carried forward 12,138,544 777,917 12,916,461 49,126,020 777,917 49,903,937

Balance Sheet
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Accruals 7,632,204 (777,917) 6,854,287

Net current assets 6,379,935 777,917 7,157,852
Total assets less current liabilities 51,131,409 777,917 51,909,326
Net assets 49,126,020 777,917 49,903,937
Unrestricted reserves – designated funds 9,652,796 777,917 10,430,713
Total funds 49,126,020 777,917 49,903,937
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Unrestricted funds Total funds

Charity Balance Sheet As reported
£

Restatement
£

As restated
£

As reported
£

Restatement
£

As restated
£

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Amounts owed to group undertakings 2,576,200 (777,917) 1,798,283

Total assets less current liabilities 32,216,457 777,917 32,994,374

Net assets 32,216,457 777,917 32,994,374

Unrestricted reserves – Designated funds 4,637,554 777,917 5,415,471

Total funds 32,216,457 777,917 32,994,374

Loss in the financial statements
(charitable company) (390,387) 388,961 (1,426)

Group statement of cash flows

Net incoming resources for the year 398,740 388,961 787,701
Movement in creditors (575,349) (388,961) (964,310)

33 LIABILITY OF MEMBERS

The Odyssey Trust Company Limited is a company limited by guarantee without 
share capital. The liability of the members is limited to an amount not exceeding 
£10.

34 CONTINGENT LIABILITY

The Millennium Commission has a floating charge over the assets of the ReDiscov-
er 2 and ReDiscover 3 projects. This charge will crystallise in the event of default 
by the charity’s subsidiary under the terms of the contract. It is not practicable to 
estimate the financial effect of a potential default.

35 ULTIMATE CONTROLLING PARTY

The group consider the Board of Trustees to be their ultimate controlling party.

32 PRIOR PERIOD RESTATEMENT (CONTINUED)
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OML Belfast
Limited

NI036962
2020 2019

Odyssey Property
Company
04113355

2020 2019

W5

NI037861
2020 2019

Turnover 12,437,195 12,174,834 253,831 254,764 4,911,904 4,837,378

Cost of Sales (7,161,473) (7,276,211)                         -                           -   (3,288,149) (3,320,072)

Gross Profit/ (loss) 5,275,722 4,898,623 253,831 254,764 1,623,755 1,517,306

Operating costs (2,858,379) (1,741,348) (612,514) (575,240) (282,950) (331,646)
Investment income 6,864 1,453 389,850 389,850 25 103
Net profit/ (loss) pre tax 2,424,207 3,158,728 31,167 69,374 1,340,830 1,185,763
Taxation 5,151                         -                           -                           -                         -                         -   
Gift aid (2,456,885) (3,162,187) (31,167) (69,374)                       -                         -   
Retained in subsidiary (27,527) (3,459)                         -                           -   1,340,830 1,185,763

Aggregate assets 8,679,600 11,187,772 15,283,168 15,676,438 6,175,499 4,986,206
Aggregate liabilities (8,373,900) (10,854,545) (15,257,493) (15,650,763) (1,165,119) (1,316,656)
Net assets 305,700 333,227 25,675 25,675 5,010,380 3,669,550

36 SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKINGS 

The charity owns the whole of the ordinary share capital of Odyssey Construction Company Limited, OML Belfast Limited, Odyssey Property Company and
WhoWhatWhereWhenWhy.  These subsidiaries donate their taxable profits to the Charity each year by gift aid.  Their trading results for the year, as extracted from
the audited financial statements, are summarised below:

Odyssey Construction Company limited and Silverstream Enterprises Limited are dormant subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March 2020.
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Never miss a show again!

The Suite & Lounge Experience at The SSE Arena, Belfast


